

1/4/2018

Page 1

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

REGULAR MEETING

THURSDAY, JANUARY 4, 2018 at 3:00 PM

DETROIT PUBLIC SAFETY HEADQUARTERS

1301 THIRD AVENUE.

DETROIT, MICHIGAN 48226

/

PAGE 1 TO 57

1 COMMISSIONERS:

2 MS. LISA CARTER, Chairperson (Dist. 6)

3 MS. EVA GARZA DEWAEISCHE, Vice-Chairperson At-Large

4 MS. ELIZABETH BROOKS, At-Large

5 MR. DERRICK SANDERS, At-Large

6 MR. WILLIE E. BELL, Commissioner (Dist. 4)

7 MR. DARRYL D. BROWN, Commissioner (Dist. 1)

8 MR. WILLIE E. BURTON, Commissioner (Dist. 5)

9 MR. CONRAD MALLET, JR., Commissioner (Dist. 2)

10 MS. SHIRLEY A. BURCH, Commissioner (Dist. 3)

11 MR. WILLIAM DAVIS, Commissioner (Dist. 7)

12

13

14 MR. ROBERT BROWN, Executive Manager

15 MR. GREGORY HICKS, Secretary to the Board

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

REPRESENTING THE CHIEF OF POLICE'S OFFICE:
CHIEF OF POLICE, JAMES E. CRAIG
ASSISTANT CHIEF OF POLICE, LASHINDA STAIR

1 Detroit, Michigan

2 Thursday, January 4, 2018

3 About 3:06 p.m.

4 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Good afternoon.

5 COMMISSIONERS: Good afternoon.

6 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Happy New Year to
7 everyone. Welcome to the Board of Police Commissioners
8 Meeting. Our first meeting of the calendar year. My
9 name is Lisa Carter, Chair of the Commission. I
10 represent District 6. On behalf of the board, thank
11 you for attending today's meeting. Like I said, this
12 is the first meeting of the calendar year.

13 Welcome to our new board members, and to our
14 returning board members. In Detroit, starting in 1973,
15 the citizens had the wisdom to state their resolve
16 through citizen control over police -- over our police
17 department as part of our democratic governance
18 process.

19 In 2000 -- in our 2012 Detroit City Charter,
20 our citizens reaffirmed control and expanded the police
21 board to include seven elected members from our
22 districts, and four appointed by the mayor. Today
23 marks the second time that police commissioners from
24 each district have been elected. And, I would like to
25 say welcome to our newly elected commissioners.

1 They've elected to service in the role of civilian
2 oversight for the Police Department. Today, we have,
3 like I said, four newly elected to join our veteran
4 commissioners and our newly appointed -- newly elected
5 police commissioners should feel very supported because
6 you should be seated by a veteran police commissioner.
7 So, if you questions, feel free to ask those questions
8 of the veteran police commissioners.

9 Today, of a special note, Commissioner Conrad
10 Mallett serves as an appointed commissioner and is now
11 elected to serve and represent District 2. So,
12 congratulations Commissioner Mallett.

13 We are also hopeful that later this month, the
14 mayor will appoint -- we have a vacancy, and the mayor
15 will appoint and will forward a name to the Detroit
16 City Council to -- to fill that vacancy that will bring
17 our body to the full complement of 11 members.

18 Today, we have asked Detroit City Clerk, Janice
19 Winfrey, to administer the oath of office to the new
20 board. In the interest of time, I hope that we can
21 swear in the entire body for the 2018 through 2021
22 season. The swearing in will be followed by welcoming
23 remarks from the commissioners.

24 In interest of time, I don't believe that the
25 clerk is here at this time, so we're going to go ahead

1 and have the commissioners give any opening remarks
2 that they would like to give. And, we ask that you be
3 brief in your remarks because we have nine other, ten
4 other who -- nine other police commissioners eager to
5 give their remarks. So, please be brief and address
6 the audience.

7 After the swearing in, we will have an abbreviated
8 business meeting where we will take up several
9 important action items.

10 First, we need to comply with the Michigan Open
11 Meetings Act and approve the scheduled meetings for the
12 calendar year. I have also distributed the
13 subcommittee assignments. Please see it in your
14 package. If you have any questions, please see me
15 after the meeting.

16 We have requests from the Chief of Police for two
17 suspensions -- for suspensions of two officers --
18 police officers without pay, for action under new
19 business.

20 We will not have any committee reports or report
21 from the board secretary. For incoming communications,
22 please see the list of board -- please see your list on
23 the board agenda.

24 We will have oral comments from the audience at
25 the end of the meeting. So, if you would like to

1 address the board, please see Mr. Brown. Mr. Brown is
2 somewhere around here, for a speaker's card. Again,
3 please limit your remarks to two minutes.

4 We also have some refreshments outside in the
5 lobby area, and we hope to have an opportunity to
6 exchange with citizens, members of the department, and
7 all of our fellow commissioners.

8 I would also like to indicate that part of today's
9 program will include a song of unity performed by
10 Ms. Tiffany Stewart who is also a member of our
11 investigative staff at the police commission.

12 We are also asking that everyone can participate
13 in the invocation. Reverend Louis Forsythe is going to
14 lead the invocation, and from Pleasant Grove Baptist
15 Church. We ask that all of you -- he is going to lead
16 us into the unity invocation that each of you should
17 have received a copy of. So, at this time, I'm going
18 to ask that Mr. -- I mean, Reverend Forsythe to please
19 step forward.

20 As he's coming forward, I want to introduce our
21 Chief of Police, Mr. James E. Craig. Thank you for
22 attending, sir.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, I just want
24 to elaborate a little bit about Reverend Louis Forsythe
25 Pleasant Grove's Senior Minister, Pleasant Grove

1 Baptist Church. Under his leadership, among others,
2 and under Leslie Matthew were instrumental on lobbying
3 and fighting and leading the charge with Mission United
4 to get our power back. And, we had a series of
5 meetings and activities at his church, press
6 conference, demonstration, and I'm just so pleased that
7 he's here this afternoon to open us up with a prayer
8 because he was instrumental in terms of the power
9 processes. And, most of you are familiar with that
10 after getting our power back after the Emergency Matter
11 Act. It took a year for us to lobby. And, that took
12 place in 2015. Thank you, Ms. Carter.

13 REVEREND FORSYTHE: Shall we pray? Father God, we
14 are grateful for this day. We are mindful of your
15 presence. We ask, Dear God, that you will guide us
16 with your grace and your mercy. That you give us
17 wisdom and understanding. Give us peace and patience,
18 and help us through your spirit, to live out the
19 tenants of your worry and of your love. And God, we
20 just bless you. We thank you for this new year, a year
21 filled with opportunities and new chances. We pray, oh
22 God, that you will use us in a way that bring you glory
23 and honor. Now, bless the Detroit Police
24 Commissioners. Bless the men and women who serve this
25 city. Keep us all by your grace and your mercy. With

1 this we do ask, and we pray, in your gracious and
2 wonderful name. Amen.

3 THE PUBLIC: Amen.

4 REVEREND FORSYTHE: Invocation. Shall we
5 cite together, our invocation today?

6 THE PUBLIC: With humble hearts, we ask for
7 peace and harmony in our city and for special
8 protection for those who serve in law enforcement to
9 protect us. We also ask that the words, actions, and
10 decisions of our new Detroit Board of Police
11 Commissioners be guided by the wisdom and justice
12 throughout their years of service, and that board
13 members work together to achieve the very best for our
14 residents, the Police Department, and greater
15 community. Amen.

16 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you so much,
17 Reverend Forsythe. At this time, we will have
18 introductions by our police commissioners. And, we
19 will begin with commissioner Willie Burton.

20 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I just wanted to say,
21 I'm Commissioner Willie Burton, representing the Mighty
22 5th District. And, I'm excited to continue to serve
23 this year with -- to serve the proud citizens of
24 Detroit. And, thank you for being here this evening.

25 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Good afternoon. I'm

1 Conrad Mallett. Like Commissioner Burton and the rest
2 of my colleagues, I'm very pleased to be here this
3 afternoon. I will admit, that as a Chairperson, when I
4 first joined the board, I was not as deeply
5 appreciative of an elected board as I am now. Not just
6 because having gone through and won the election, but
7 because I do have -- now that I have served on the
8 board, I really do understand that the opportunity for
9 the people to make sure that their voice is heard is
10 critical.

11 It is not always exciting here at the Board of
12 Commissioner Meetings. There are things that are
13 mundane that we have to do. There are bureaucratic
14 activities that have to take place to make sure that we
15 thrust the City of Detroit forward, but never the less, in
16 each and every instance, the citizens have the
17 opportunity to participate, and I'm glad to be a part
18 of their participatory process. So, I'm very, very
19 pleased to be with you. And, thank you for the
20 opportunity.

21 COMMISSIONER BROWN: I'm Darryl Brown,
22 Commissioner elected out of District 1, the D-1 on the
23 mighty northwest side of Detroit. I'm just happy to be
24 here and I want to thank all of the residents from
25 District 1 for electing me to office. I've looking

1 forward to serving this board, serving the Police
2 Department, and Chief Craig, a wonderful job with the
3 stats you put out today. I was very proud to be there
4 to hear those numbers and to see how the efforts that
5 you're doing with working with the other law
6 enforcement agencies to reduce the crime in the City of
7 Detroit.

8 CHIEF CRAIG: Thank you.

9 COMMISSIONER BROWN: I appreciate that.
10 Thank you.

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: Good afternoon. I'm
12 commissioner Willie Bell from District 4. The
13 powerful, the one and only east side of Detroit.

14 You've been hearing that for the last four
15 years, but I want to confess, that is the truth. I
16 stick by it. I have the distinct honor of serving with
17 the Detroit Police Department from 1971 to 2003. I had
18 four years or five years of working for the board,
19 Administration Lieutenant of Office Chief Investigator,
20 on getting elected in 2013. I was so pleased that the
21 people in the City of Detroit from District 4 gave me
22 the opportunity to serve the Board of Police
23 Commissioners. And, I look back on my career from 19
24 -- the early commissioners on, I had opportunities to
25 interact with the initial charter members of this board

1 in terms of my involvement with Guardians Police
2 Association. So, there's been a long standing over the
3 years, a tremendous need for Civil Rights and equal
4 opportunity need in law enforcement. And, that's why
5 when you look across this country, as Chief Craig
6 indicated, he's been actively involved as the Chief of
7 Police, with the ranking members of the LAPD. But my
8 involvement has been in terms of police reform
9 throughout this nation and throughout this country in
10 terms of interacting across this country and having an
11 impact.

12 So, I'm pleased that Detroiters stood up early on
13 under the leadership of Coleman A. Young, State Senator
14 Coleman A. Young, and then Mayor Coleman A. Young
15 because this department reflects like no other
16 department in this country. If you look around, you
17 can meet that challenge and see what we have achieved.
18 And, we're working hard to continue that particular
19 path of Civil Rights, constitutional policing in
20 America. Because we have had some issues in the past.
21 We cannot ignore those issues. And, that's why this
22 board was formed, out of the civil disturbance in '67.
23 And, you know the history. Some of us know the
24 history. But, I think the legacy is that we must share
25 the good news, the bad news in order to deal with the

1 past, the present, and the future of the law
2 enforcement in this country.

3 There are valid concerns that people are raising,
4 not just in Detroit, but across this country. We must
5 recognize that and address those issues at all times.
6 That's why I'm so pleased to have the opportunity to
7 return to this board to serve in that capacity.
8 Historically, we must remember the past, but deal with
9 the future in terms of the issues that we deal with in
10 law enforcement.

11 And, I'm pleased that under Chief Craig
12 leadership, that we have achieved a whole lot, under
13 the DPD leadership. But, the legacy of how many have
14 served this department from 1970's on up, we made a
15 difference in terms of -- in dealing with the issues of
16 black officers, female officers, Hispanic officers, who
17 diversified this department. So, that's why we have a
18 great department now. And, you must challenge us to
19 continue that leadership. Those are my two minutes.
20 Thank you.

21 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Dewaeische.

22 COMMISSIONER DEWAEISCHE: Thank you,
23 Commissioner. My name is Eva Garza Dewaeische. And, I
24 am a lifelong resident of the city. Very proud to be.
25 And, I'm serving on the Board of Police Commissioners

1 for my second term. I was a Commissioner Under Mayor
2 Archer's commission, as well. I'm very, very proud of
3 the work that the department is doing. The leadership
4 of the mayor and the Chief. We had a press conference
5 today and the crime stats are so impressive. I know
6 I'm speaking for myself and many people that I know in
7 the city who feel so much safer today than we have in
8 many, many, many years. And so, as a police
9 commissioner, I know all of us feel that we're doing
10 something to help in that regard.

11 I do want to say, in my two minutes, that -- that
12 we have a meeting every Thursday here at this location.
13 I would love to see a packed house at every one of
14 those meetings because that's an opportunity. That's
15 the access that you are provided, so that you can tell
16 us what your concerns are, what your needs are, and so
17 that you can hear how, you know, what the progress and
18 success we're making in the city as it relates to the
19 police department. So, I hope you'll take advantage of
20 that one Thursday a month, the second Thursday. We
21 have a community meeting in the evening at 6:30. And,
22 we try to rotate it into every precinct area so that
23 everyone has access. So, we're here to serve you. I'm
24 a Member At-Large. I represent the entire city police.
25 Please feel free to call me or any of the commissioners

1 if you any questions or want more information about
2 what we do. And, thank you for your participation
3 today.

4 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I don't know about two
5 minutes, but I will try to sum this up. When I was
6 asked to become a police commissioner, I thought, what
7 do they do. Because all the work I've done has been
8 volunteer work in the communities, be it opera, D.I.A.,
9 be it whatever. But being the -- a police commissioner
10 is the best thing that's happened to me. I know what,
11 kind of, policemen we have in the city. My hat is off
12 to Chief Craig, and to all the police officers that I
13 have gotten to know and that I see.

14 I also felt that just coming to a meeting was not
15 good enough for me. So, I got involved, thanks to my
16 young lady over there nodding her head, with
17 recruiting. So, you all watch out because I'm
18 approaching everyone. If you know of any place that we
19 can recruit police officers, please let me know. This
20 is a -- the best police department of all, that I have
21 read about. And, I can't compliment them enough. I
22 feel safe.

23 (Applause)

24 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I feel safe in the
25 city, night, day, I can walk around. So, I don't know

1 if my two minutes are up, but I just wanted to let you
2 know that I am pleased to have new commissioners come
3 aboard. I think it's a great thing. You're going to
4 enjoy. We are a team. And, today at the press
5 conference, the big team was there. So, thank you all
6 very much and come back. Elizabeth Brooks. Thank you.
7 At-Large. I represent the whole city. Thank you.

8 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Good afternoon. My name
9 is Shirley Burch. I'm the proud Commissioner for
10 District 3. I just want to say and give all honor to a
11 God that placed me here. That's the only way I'm here.
12 I want everybody to know that I'm backed by the
13 majority of the people sitting in this room are
14 supporting me. And, believe me, when Shirley opens up
15 her mouth, they follow because I'm going to follow the
16 right thing. I am so very proud of the three churches
17 that are represented here today. That is my own home
18 church, is Peace Baptist Church. We also have Pleasant
19 Grove, that's Reverend Forsythe. And, we also have
20 Little Mack's Temple.

21 My goal is to work with this board, is that
22 I've already been doing it, I just never had a
23 position. So, I thank you for giving me a title, but I
24 plan on going right back to work because I wear really,
25 three hats. And, those three hats are to bring unity.

1 I'm about different cultures coming together. I'm
2 about respect of the police. I'm about respect to the
3 citizens. I know Chief Craig is doing a marvelous job.
4 I know the Chairperson of this board is a marvelous
5 person. I can't wait to get into the real intricates
6 of what exactly is our role. How can we make our city
7 safer? And, I'm proud to be a police commissioner for
8 a famous District that I live in. So, who does that?
9 I lived in District 3 all my life except two of them.
10 So, I know the ins and out of it. I know how we're
11 going to do better. That's what I'm about, increasing
12 and progressing. Not staying still. So, as the
13 commissioners will find out, that's a working little
14 lady. But we work together. And, I thank you for the
15 honor. I thank you for my family coming from
16 Kalamazoo. And, all of my family that's here, and may
17 God bless all of us in 2018. Thank you.

18 (Applause)

19 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: My name is Derrick
20 Sanders. I'm one of the Commissioners At-Large. The
21 first thing I want to say is, I want to give Chief
22 Craig and his staff an open relationship door or a
23 relationship we always have. And, it's a good
24 relationship. And, as Ms. Brooks said, Commissioner
25 Brooks, I'm At-Large so I'm everywhere, not just one

1 place. And, this is me going on my second term. So, I
2 am glad to be a police commissioner. I'm glad to work
3 for the City and for the people in the City of Detroit.

4 I'm a lifelong Detroit resident. So, I am just
5 happy to be here and do what I can do. But, if you
6 notice, all of us do different things in the city. All
7 of us have different jobs. I'm a business
8 representative for a large union company that helps me
9 to do the job that I need to do here. So, I appreciate
10 anybody that need my services or need the commission
11 services, to contact us. Because, we not a
12 commissioner that do not sit still. We make it work.
13 We make it work with the Chief. We make it work,
14 whatever we need to do to get it resolved. So, this is
15 one good board and I praise you and thank you.

16 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Good evening everyone,
17 my name is William Davis.

18 THE PUBLIC: Yay. Whoo hoo.

19 (Applause)

20 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Representing the mighty
21 7. It's been underrepresented all last year. I'm
22 going to do my best to be a good representative for
23 District 7. I'm humbled and pleased that so many
24 people voted for me. I am humbled and pleased that so
25 many people, you know, from our City of Detroit days,

1 our Detroit man days, and our various groups and
2 organizations are here. I'm very pleased. I have
3 friends, relatives, loved ones here. And, I made have
4 been elected in District 7, but with the various groups
5 that I represent, I am and will be all over the City.
6 You can always call me because I believe in taking
7 action. I believe in civilian oversight. Thank you.

8 (Applause)

9 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you,
10 Commissioners. And, just briefly, a little bit about
11 myself. I represent District 6. Lifelong resident of
12 the City of Detroit. I grew up on the east side, and
13 after I got married, my husband convinced me to move to
14 Southwest Detroit. They embraced me, and as a result,
15 I got elected to the Board of Police Commissioners.
16 So, I'm very happy about my east side family and my
17 west side family. This is my second term on the board,
18 and it's been a wonderful experience. After I -- I
19 spent 27 years with the Wayne County Sheriff's
20 Department, retired at the rank of lieutenant. After I
21 retired, I served a term with the AmeriCorp down at
22 Wayne State university. And, since 2014, I've been on
23 staff at Wayne State University and working with the
24 AmeriCorp program. We have done work throughout the
25 City of Detroit. And, many of you know some of our

1 work. And, we continue to try to bring residents
2 together in the City of Detroit. So, I'm proud of the
3 work that I've done with the Wayne State University
4 Center for Urban Studies. I'm proud of the work that
5 I've done with the Sheriff's Department. And, I'm
6 especially proud of the work that we've done here at
7 the Board of Police Commissioners since we were elected
8 in 2013, started serving in 2014.

9 At this time, I would like to acknowledge the
10 Honorable Janice Winfrey who is here to administer the
11 Oath of Office to us. Thank you, ma'am, for coming.
12 And, you've been here for about 15, 20 minutes.

13 MS. WINFREY: Not long

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Not long. Sorry
15 to hold you up. But at this time, I'm going to turn
16 the -- this part of the program over to you.

17 MS. WINFREY: Okay. All right. Thank you.
18 I'm going to ask that we stand. Make sure that I can
19 see you. So, I would like if you would --

20 MR. BROWN: Ms. Winfrey, it's a mic right
21 there. There's a mic right there.

22 MS. WINFREY: Using my teacher's voice.

23 So, I would ask that you raise your right hand,
24 and after I recite the Oath of Office, you will respond
25 with, I will.

1 Do you swear or affirm to support the Constitution
2 of the United States and the constitution of this state
3 and the Charter of the City of Detroit, to perform your
4 elected and/or appointed duties as police
5 commissioners?

6 COMMISSIONERS: I will.

7 MS. WINFREY: Thank you, so much, and
8 congratulations. You now consider yourself officially
9 ready to serve.

10 (Applause and cheers)

11 MS. WINFREY: I will be coming around to put
12 my signature on your Oath of Office, and then my job is
13 done. Thank you.

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

15 Okay. While Ms. Winfrey is doing that, I would
16 like to acknowledge a couple of people that I saw in
17 the audience. Former Commissioners, Reginald Crawford
18 who represented District 6.

19 (Applause)

20 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Edgar Vann
21 who is in the audience. Thank you.

22 (Applause)

23 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: And, also, I saw Mr.
24 Rico Razo who was the Deputy Director of -- District
25 Manager -- District Manager of District 6 for a while.

1 And, now you are the campaign manager for Mayor Duggan.
2 Thank you for coming out.

3 (Applause)

4 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Oh, the Wayne County
5 Clerk, I didn't see her. Right on the front row. Oh,
6 I didn't see her. Incognito. Thank you, Madam Clerk,
7 for coming out. Are there any other elective or
8 representatives of elected officials that are in the
9 audience? Ms. Abano, thank you for coming, too. I
10 didn't see you. I know the clerk is here, but I see
11 you, too. No, I'm just saying I see you. I see you
12 now.

13 And, Chief Craig, at this time, I'm going to --
14 oh, Chief Craig is gone. You're so smooth.

15 MS. STAIR: Real smooth like that.

16 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Assistant Chief Stair.

17 MS. STAIR: Good afternoon, ma'am. The Chief
18 of Police will be right back, so I'll hold my remarks
19 and give him a chance to give his remarks.

20 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Any staff that's
21 here?

22 MS. STAIR: There are lots of staff that's
23 here. First up, I see Lieutenant Johnson from the
24 office of the Chief. I think everybody should probably
25 stand up and introduce themselves, if that's

1 appropriate because I can't see everybody.

2 MS. LAMAR: Bridget Lamar, Human Resources
3 Bureau and Employee Services Candidate 2.

4 MR. WALTON: Steve Walton, Captain at the
5 11th Precinct.

6 MR. WILLIAMS: Assistant Chief Williams,
7 Neighborhood Police.

8 MR. TUCKER: Captain Tucker, Crime Unit.

9 MR. CHAMBERS: Captain Michael Chambers,
10 Internal Control.

11 MR. WORBOYS: Curt Worboys, Captain of
12 Homicide.

13 MS. STAIR: I think that's it

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: That's it. Thank you.

15 Mistress, you have before you, the agenda for
16 January 4, 2018. I have a motion for approval. Move
17 for approval.

18 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Support.

19 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: We'll move in support of
20 the agenda for Jan 4, 2018. Is there any discussion?
21 Those in favor.

22 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

23 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: The motion carries. At
24 this time, Commissioners, you have before you, the
25 agenda for -- I'm sorry. The approval of the minutes

1 from December 14, 2017.

2 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Move approval.

3 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Support. It's been
4 moved and supported. We approve the minutes from
5 December 14, 2017. Is there any discussion? Those in
6 favor.

7 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

8 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Those opposed. The
9 motion carries. Thank you, Madam Clerk.

10 MADAM CLERK: You're welcome.

11 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Have a good day. Okay.

12 All right. At this time, Mr. Hicks, please
13 introduce the commission staff that's here.

14 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Madam Chair. I do
15 want to indicate, just for the record, you do have a
16 quorum present. To all of the business you conduct
17 today, will be lawful and consistent with our rules.

18 Secondary, we have taping our meeting today,
19 Sergeant Quinn. We have the Audio-Visual Organization
20 of the City of Detroit doing the broadcast for today.

21 And then, we have Sarah [sic] Mapp who is our
22 court reporter for the day.

23 And in the interest of time, if I could just ask
24 members of the BOPC staff, all of you just to stand,
25 and then we could make individual reductions -- I mean,

1 introductions at some point. But, if you could just
2 stand so everyone can acknowledge that you are here.

3 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Happy New Year, guys.
4 Thank you for coming.

5 COMMISSIONER HICKS: That would be including
6 the Office of Chief Investigators.

7 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, staff, for
8 attending the meeting. Chief, you're back.

9 CHIEF CRAIG: Yes, I am.

10 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: You guys are so smooth.
11 At this time, any reports that you have? You have the
12 mic.

13 CHIEF CRAIG: Yes. Thank you. And, I want
14 to welcome all of the new board members. I look
15 forward to working closely with you. I think we've
16 done great things together. I appreciate the board,
17 their presence today at the press conference. I
18 actually just got off the phone with the mayor. He's
19 very, very pleased with the turnout of all the folks
20 who came in just to acknowledge, not only their role,
21 in it, but just -- it was just a great event. One of
22 the better ones I've seen in terms of recognizing --
23 it's not just about us, the Police Department is often
24 times said, but it's really about all of us, the board,
25 the community, the stakeholders, the businesses, those

1 who volunteer in Detroit 300. I'm remised that I did
2 not acknowledge the Peace Peddlers Army Veterans who
3 also work our neighborhoods, radio patrol. I think
4 there are some radio patrols that are here. So, just
5 look at the collaboration with everyone and that's how
6 I'll get started.

7 With that, I'll just go. Some may or may not know
8 what the year-end report said, but just for purposes of
9 going through, as it was pointed out earlier today,
10 there were -- we ended the year with 267 homicides
11 which is a 9 percent -- a 12 percent reduction. We
12 ended the year, overall, violent crime down 9 percent.
13 Non-fatal shootings, we ended the year with a 12
14 percent reduction. Property crime, everything reduced.
15 And, I've got wrong sheet. Okay. Property crimes
16 ended with a 9 percent reduction. Overall crime, both
17 property and violent, we ended the year with an 8
18 percent reduction. So, we exceeded a goal that we set
19 earlier in the year of 5 percent. So, really, I give
20 all the credit to all the folks that were there today,
21 but I also give special a thank you to the men and
22 women of the Detroit Police Department because I'm
23 going to tell you what often times does not get
24 reported, especially when we have a very significant
25 crime with a murder, just the commitment. Sometimes

1 these investigators and these officers on surveillance
2 are working around the clock to identify and make an
3 arrest to bring some closure to the families. And so,
4 for that, I'm deeply thankful for their work.

5 And, I know that I also announced today, you may
6 have heard, the new award that I'm giving, it's a
7 Chief's Medal for Excellence. And, every member of the
8 Detroit Police Department. It's called the Chief's
9 Medal for Crime Reduction and Improvement 2017. And,
10 every member, including non-sworn members will get it.
11 Civilian members and non-sworn members will get a pin,
12 a distinctive pin. And, the sworn members in uniform,
13 as you can see, the ribbons that are on my uniform,
14 will get a ribbon on their uniform for a job well done.
15 And, if we can replicate and do even better next year,
16 then we'll give out another award.

17 I often times say, you know, we're fighting now
18 against last year's statistics. And, we recognize that
19 when we look at 267 and the trend, we're trending down
20 now for the last, now, four and a half years. But the
21 key is, we still just have too many. Because when I
22 look at my home, my old home of Los Angeles with
23 roughly 271, 272 murders and we're a much smaller city,
24 that's an indication we still have plenty of work to
25 do. I'm a big believer, as you've heard the mayor and

1 I both talk about the effective cease fire, now that
2 we're moving that strategy to four and seven, now by
3 the end of the year, we hope to have every precinct in
4 a cease fire model. And if it continues, as the chart
5 I depicted earlier showed, those cease fire precincts
6 were all down. Imagine a whole city. It's a lot of
7 work, but we have the right partners, and so I'm
8 optimistic that we will continue to get it done.

9 Also, we're not static. We'll continue to evolve.
10 As you know, we have our real-time crime center.
11 Certainly, the green light right now, were at 231. Our
12 goal is to have 400 green lights up. We're set to open
13 our first business district green light in the next
14 month. And so, we think 400 -- and, imagine with the
15 400 green lights, the impact that will have on crime.

16 The neighborhood police commissioners will
17 continue to do what they're doing so well. I'm very
18 excited.

19 I think, when you look at all of it together,
20 that's why we're successful. And so, before I take any
21 questions that you might have, I did want to make you a
22 note. I just got notified of this probably within the
23 last hour and a half. An active duty officer was found
24 dead in his home. He's a twenty-year veteran of the
25 Detroit Police Department, officer Ellis Bernard. His

1 last duty assignment was at narcotics. He had been on
2 restrictive duty for the last ten years. And so, he
3 will be missed. In fact, he was solely responsible for
4 running 224-dope, the number that many of our citizens
5 call to report narcotic locations. And so, I had a
6 chance to talk with his daughter just before coming out
7 to the meeting. And so, more information coming. He
8 has a daughter and a son; one attending Michigan State.
9 And, he also has a daughter attending med school in
10 Chicago. And So, my heart and prayers go out to the
11 family. Thank you.

12 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: On behalf of the board,
13 our thoughts and prayers go out to the family as well.

14 Commissioners, do you have any questions for Chief
15 Craig?

16 COMMISSIONER DEWAEISCHE: Madam Chair, if I
17 could just ask the Chief, 'cause I think it's
18 important, we may have people here who are not real
19 familiar with green light. If you could, just
20 elaborate a little bit. Especially in terms of how we
21 started and how many we started and how long it took us
22 to get to two hundred and over two hundred, please?

23 CHIEF CRAIG: Okay. So, I'll try to make it,
24 you know, simple. It was actually a small idea. I
25 call it an idea on a napkin. I started to think about

1 what we can do in the neighborhoods to create safety.
2 When I started, one of the things that was very clear
3 to me and in many of our neighborhoods, gas stations
4 and liquor stores, the only place that our people who
5 live in the neighborhoods could go to, they were not
6 safe places. So, I said if we can identify locations
7 that are clean and safe, maybe they can be safe havens,
8 like what you see around downtown with the blue lights.
9 We're all familiar with the blue light. The blue light
10 is if someone is in the downtown/ mid-town area and
11 they need to call the police, they need help, they need
12 to use the restroom facilities, a safe haven, they can
13 go to those locations where the distinctive blue lights
14 are shown. So, I said in the neighborhoods, we wanted
15 something different. A place in the community the
16 citizens could go where it was safe. The management
17 would work with the community when they came there, and
18 so that was the birth of the green light.

19 Why green light? Well, I have to tell you.
20 Honestly, it was selfish. I graduated from Cass Tech.
21 Those of us who know, know that the colors are green
22 and white. And so, because of that green, I thought
23 that would be appropriate for the neighborhoods. And,
24 that was the beginning. But where it really took off
25 is when we brought the businesses in and partnered with

1 the businesses. Not only partnered with the businesses
2 who wanted green light, but also offered high
3 definition cameras through our relationship with
4 Comcast. And also, improved lighting at the locations,
5 DTE. Now, many of you have seen the green lights and
6 seen the images we put out on the news. When there is
7 a crime, the images are so clear, you can read license
8 plates, you can see tattoos. It's very hard to hide
9 from a green light. And so, we know that we have seen
10 since we've opened up our new real-time crime center --
11 and, for those who have not seen it, we certainly are
12 open to scheduling a tour to see exactly how this
13 technology works. We talk about real-time and really,
14 it's that, some of you may remember, and I reported out
15 this morning at the press conference, the transgender
16 that was shot, robbed and shot on Woodward Avenue. We
17 caught the perpetrator in that -- that violent crime
18 because our technicians in the real-time crime center
19 were actually scanning the location. So, what we have
20 is something called hot spots. We know where some of
21 the hotspots are in the city. So, during those hours
22 and days and times where certain crimes are occurring,
23 they will scan. And, it was ironic that they start
24 scanning, and during the scanning, they saw the vehicle
25 pull up. Two suspects exit, one taking the purse, and

1 then, one with a rifle actually shoot the victim.
2 Police were on the scene within minutes. A brief
3 pursuit. The suspect was taken into custody. So,
4 that's the example of the effectiveness of just what we
5 call force multiplier, that we're not actually on the
6 ground, but we're using technology to do police patrol
7 with civilian and sworn analyst on the crime scene.

8 So, I know of no other departments working this
9 way. I know New York has a state-of-the-art real-time
10 crime center, but we are viewed as one of the most
11 advanced. Especially, when you talk about green light.
12 I don't know of any other city doing green light like
13 we have. We have had a number of cities visit us. The
14 last one to visit us was Cleveland Ohio. The police
15 chief came with members of his staff. They were very
16 impressed. So, I believe that they are probably going
17 to adopt a similar model type of technology. So, I
18 hope that was -- yes, ma'am?

19 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you, Chief. I
20 just want to elaborate on what Chief Craig said. I
21 have an organization called Community United for
22 Progress. I also belong to the Dequindre Neighborhood
23 Block Club. Several of those members are here. The
24 green light does work. But how Chief Craig encouraged
25 us as neighbors, as residents, to go to the gas

1 stations to encourage them to get the green light,
2 because what that does is protect us when we as women,
3 or men, when we go to a gas station, we see that light,
4 it gives us an assurance that safety, even if they get
5 robbed, those cameras, like he said, are very intense
6 and sharp. So, what we did as a block club is, we
7 visited the gas stations in our neighborhood. We
8 approached the owner and told them about the rewards of
9 the green light and we have convinced three gas
10 stations to have the green light.

11 So, this is what we can do in every district to
12 help the Chief. And, this also comes under the support
13 and of a Commander Leach and the NPOs many people do
14 not even know what an NPO is. So, we're out there to
15 educate. Neighborhood Police Officer is your friend.
16 If you work together with those officers, your
17 community can become safer.

18 So, this is what we're about. Like the Chief
19 said, unity. Get involved in your neighborhood. The
20 green light works. Thank you.

21 CHIEF CRAIG: Thank you. And, through the
22 Chair, I appreciate you sharing that Commissioner Burch
23 because one of the things that's most fascinating to
24 me, about the green light, is the active role in the
25 community that's played, in going to the businesses.

1 Not the police, but the community going in and saying
2 look, if you want our business, it's probably in your
3 best interest to get a green light.

4 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Right. Right.

5 CHIEF CRAIG: We appreciate that. Again, we
6 have 231 up now and we set a goal of 400 up by the end
7 of the year.

8 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you. And, I know
9 Commissioner Burch, you actually have a board with some
10 pictures on it that you took to the businesses.

11 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes. I brought it to
12 this board before I became a commissioner, of how we
13 actually had the gas stations to get the green light.

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Right. And, it worked.

15 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes, it did.

16 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, ma'am. Thank
17 you, Chief. Any other questions? Thank you, sir.

18 Commissioners, you have communications in your
19 packets that came into the Police Department -- I mean,
20 the Police Commissioners.

21 Under old, we have no old business.

22 Under new business, you have the BOPC 18 Calendar
23 of Meetings. Let's hear a motion to --

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam, I so move that we
25 approve the 2018 Calendar of Meetings.

1 COMMISSIONER HICKS: Second.

2 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: It's been approved that
3 we move to support the 2018 Calendar of Meetings. Is
4 there any discussion? Those in favor.

5 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

6 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Those opposed. The
7 motion carries. At this time --

8 COMMISSIONER DEWAEISCHE: Madam -- Madam
9 Chair, I have two motions that I would like to request.
10 We have some information that was provided to us
11 regarding two police officers. The Chief has made some
12 recommendations, and this information was distributed
13 to us a few weeks ago, and we've actually gone over the
14 materials. And, at this time, I would like to make a
15 motion to request -- to approve the request from the
16 Chief of Police for change of duty status, suspension
17 without pay for Police Officer Lonnie Wade, Badge 4988
18 assigned to the 11th precinct. And, I so move.

19 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Second.

20 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Madam Chairperson, I
21 don't know if it makes a difference, but my
22 documentation states his badge is 5988. We know who
23 we're talking about, but I wanted to make sure that the
24 record was accurate.

25 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Police Officer Lonnie

1 Wade?

2 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Badge number 5988.

3 COMMISSIONER DEWAEISCHE: Okay. I have a
4 memo here, inner office memorandum, and it says 4988.
5 So, I think we just need to get that corrected. If we
6 could approve the motion without the badge at this
7 point.

8 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Yeah, I think that's
9 all right. Okay.

10 COMMISSIONER DEWAEISCHE: So, I move.

11 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Support.

12 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: So moved and supported
13 that we approve the request from Chief James Craig to
14 change the duty status of Police Officer Lonnie Wade to
15 suspension without pay. Is there any discussion?

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, I just make
17 a recommendation that the rationale for suspension
18 without pay be listed within our minutes, so that so
19 the public will know and that we will know exactly why
20 we took decision of suspension without pay. That
21 should reflect in our minutes, entirely. I mean, a
22 synopsis of that.

23 COMMISSIONER HICKS: Yes. At the direction
24 of Chair, yes, we will put it in the summary and the
25 minutes.

1 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Yes, please do. Any
2 other discussion? Those in favor.

3 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

4 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Those opposed. The
5 motion carries.

6 COMMISSIONER DEWAEISCHE: Madam Chair, I have
7 a second motion request. And, it is a request from
8 Chief Police Craig for change of duty status. A
9 suspension without pay for police officer Richard
10 Billingslea, Badge 971, assigned to the 5th precinct.
11 And, I so move.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Support.

13 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: I approve the request
14 from Police Chief James Craig to change the duty status
15 to suspension without pay for Police Officer Richard
16 Billingslea, Badge 971, assigned to the 5th precinct.
17 Is there any discussion?

18 For the record, I just want to note that this --
19 this is the officer that was in the news that involved
20 a situation at a mobile gas station on the eastside of
21 Detroit in the 5th precinct, is that correct? 5th
22 precinct. All right. Those in favor

23 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

24 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Those opposed. The
25 motion carries.

1 And also, just for the record, Lonnie -- the
2 Police Officer Lonnie Wade is the officer that was
3 involved in the incident at the Meijer's

4 CHIEF CRAIG: Yes.

5 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: On --

6 CHIEF CRAIG: Eight Mile.

7 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Eight Mile. Okay. Just
8 for the record, so that you know, and so that the
9 public knows who we're talking about.

10 COMMISSIONER DEWAEISCHE: Thank you, Madam
11 Chair.

12 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, Commissioner
13 Dewaeische.

14 Announcements. Our next meeting will be Thursday,
15 January 11th at 6:30 p.m., in the 12th precinct at the
16 Northwest Activity Center located at 18100 Meyers Road
17 at Curtis. And, our next community meeting will be
18 February 9th at 6:30 p.m. in the 9th precinct.
19 Location is forthcoming. February 8, 2018. What did I
20 say?

21 COMMISSIONER DEWAEISCHE: 9th.

22 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: I'm sorry. February 8,
23 2018 at 6:30 p.m. in the 9th precinct. Thank you.

24 At this time, we will have oral communication from
25 the audience. Please give your name for the record and

1 limit your comments to two minutes, please.

2 MR. BROWN: Madam Chair, I currently have
3 three cards. Is there anyone else out there who would
4 like to speak? Please raise your hand and we'll make
5 sure you get a card. The first speaker will be Mr.
6 Attorney Raymond Willis followed by Ms. Faith.

7 MR. WILLIS: Madam Chairman, and members of
8 the board, I'm here today to say something about a
9 particular commissioner who has been so hard, and such
10 a hard worker throughout her life. She happens to be
11 my cousin. She didn't twist my arm or anything like
12 that. I'm here on behalf of the Peace Baptist Church
13 and our Pastor Reverend David L. Jefferson. I want to
14 say that Shirley has always been a hard worker, all the
15 time I've known her. Now, I married into the cousin
16 part. My wife is the original cousin, and she got me
17 into this. But, I've known Shirley for a long time and
18 Shirley has been one of the best and hardest workers
19 I've ever known. I'm going to be very brief. She
20 probably went over the two minutes, so I'm going to
21 give back a little bit to take and make it right.

22 Shirley is a person when she says she's going to
23 do something, she does it and she pushes hard. She
24 continues. If you ask for it, she'll probably say come
25 on in and help me out and she'll push you, too.

1 Shirley has been a person I've known who does
2 everything she says she's going to do and I think
3 that's a think to crow about.

4 Shirley has indicated, I believe, throughout the
5 entire area where she's working, that she's a person
6 that can be counted upon. Shirley Burch is a person
7 that I say, and I think, should be a commissioner.
8 She's in the right spot.

9 One of the things that I think Shirley is all
10 about is stick-to-it-ness. She doesn't mess around.
11 She stays right with what she's got to do. So, I was
12 reading here her name, Shirley A. Burch, and that
13 probably stands for simply about business. And, that's
14 you. Thank you.

15 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, sir.

16 MR. BROWN: Ms. Faith followed by Mr.
17 Welbourne.

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Who is after Mr.
19 Welbourne?

20 MR. BROWN: Mr. Welbourne followed by
21 Ms. Bernice Smith. Danny Stillwell, and past
22 Commissioner, Reginald Crawford.

23 MS. FAITH: Well, hello everyone.

24 THE PUBLIC: Hello.

25 MS. FAITH: Happy New Year. I did not know

1 if I was going to be able to stay this late.

2 COMMISSIONERS: Can you speak into the mic?

3 Pull the mic down. We can't hear you. Put it to your
4 face. That you go.

5 MS. FAITH: Okay. Can you hear me now?

6 Happy New Year one more time, and Merry Christmas,
7 belated, to all of you and your families.

8 I spoke with one of the commissioners one time
9 before, here, and they said something that stuck with
10 me. And, I have it wrote out. And, it is to commend
11 you all. Carlito Wade persons, slash badge wearers and
12 non-badge wearers, they are people, too. Even when
13 there are wars many, there is a future and we presently
14 have quite a bit of beauty in the world amidst grieving
15 fathers and mothers that just have lost children in
16 death. There is a division in the DPD that help these
17 parents and the siblings to weather the storm. And
18 also, these families are helped through hard times with
19 the school age children. DPD adopts families in the
20 holiday seasons and are embraced to camp out and help
21 with other divisions. They promote peace and goodwill
22 through community-minded divisions in DPD. Also, there
23 is help with clothing, donations, backpacks and school
24 supplies, directions through Kappa and PAL for other
25 family needs.

1 Our highly trained specialized and honorable
2 men and women are valued on and off the clock. They
3 will not be recognized from their age, from youth to
4 elderly, they do what is necessary for the citizens
5 with many and few circumstances.

6 Beyond their control, in times of war and peace,
7 just like the paramedics and armed forces, Homeland
8 Security, and all who wear badges, with professional
9 behavior, not shrinking from conflict, or in times of
10 no conflict, they promote care to enforce law and order
11 for the safety of all citizens. There are no
12 throw-away people or persons, badge wearers or
13 non-badge wearers. I commend you as human and people,
14 too. Like all humanity is, you all have a bright
15 future being the success stories you are. I say to all
16 of you, keep it up. From your sister, Faith.

17 (Applause)

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

19 MR. BROWN: Bill Welbourne, followed by Ms.
20 Bernice Smith.

21 MS. WELBOURNE: Good evening, Board.

22 COMMISSIONERS: Good evening.

23 MR. WELBOURNE: My name is Bill Welbourne,
24 and I'm the former president of Citywide. I just
25 wanted to bring some information back to the people. I

1 was in Dallas and I had dropped by to see Chief Hall
2 while I was down there. I didn't get a chance to see
3 her. She was in a meeting, but I kind of bragged on
4 Chief Craig while I was down there. I bragged that we
5 had the best police department, and we come from the
6 Big D, and I don't mean Dallas, either. But, I brought
7 a paper back, that I got down there. It had a big
8 story on her. And, I wanted to make sure the Chief saw
9 that. The Board is going to give it to him later on.
10 But, they like her down there. She was a product of
11 Chief Craig and I think he did an excellent job down
12 there. And, they did an excellent job of selecting her
13 to be the Chief down there. Chief Craig, this is a
14 copy of the paper here.

15 (Applause)

16 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Chief, you're going to
17 have to give that back for a minute.

18 CHIEF CRAIG: You want me to give it back?

19 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Give it to us so we can
20 make some copies and give it to everybody, and then
21 we'll give it to you. Thank you, sir.

22 MR. BROWN: Ms. Smith, followed by Ms. Danny
23 Stillwell.

24 MS. SMITH: Good afternoon to everyone.

25 THE PUBLIC: Good afternoon.

1 MS. SMITH: And, the new commissioners,
2 welcome on board. And, a Happy New Year to everyone
3 that's here.

4 COMMISSIONERS: Happy New Year.

5 MS. SMITH: I just want to commend our Police
6 Chief for the job that he's done so far, in our city.
7 He knows that I watch him constantly in regards to what
8 he does, and on the TV. So, I do tell him, you know,
9 when he's right and when he's wrong. But in the
10 meantime, I'm still searching, and I want Brown to
11 continue to search, because I want to let it be known
12 that I'm the number one police commissioner under
13 Coleman Young. So, that means I was number one. And
14 Bell, don't shake your head because we got the
15 information.

16 So, I just want to let you know, welcome to the
17 Police Commissioner's Meeting. And, there's one rule
18 that we do have. Men, we do not wear our hats at our
19 meetings. And you, Reggie, of all people, working for
20 the City, you know better. So, therefore, would you
21 ask the men to remove their hats when they come into
22 our meetings because it's so disrespectful for us?

23 THE PUBLIC: That's right, mama.

24 MS. SMITH: This is a new year and the women,
25 we're going to be in control this year. So, I just

1 want you to know we appreciate you coming to our
2 meetings, but you've got to respect us by removing your
3 hats.

4 (Applause)

5 MS. SMITH: And, I just can't see it because
6 maybe I'm old fashioned because I'm 85 years old, but
7 I've still got a lot of strength left. Again, welcome
8 to the new commissioners. I wish you well and want you
9 to come to every meeting, so we can see you're active.

10 And you, young lady, I'm going to like you because
11 you can talk, and you don't bite your tongue about
12 anything. But, in the meantime, I'll sit down. I just
13 want to welcome you all here. Come back again because
14 we got a good commissioner board. We do things around
15 here. So, I just want you to know we appreciate you
16 coming. And you, Chief, you know how much I love you,
17 sir. I don't have to tell you that. I have to keep
18 the women away from him. I'll sit down on that.

19 MR. BROWN: Danni Stillwell, followed by
20 former Commissioner Reginald Crawford.

21 MS. STILLWELL: I'm honored to be following
22 Ms. Bernice. My name is Danny Stillwell, and I just
23 wanted to say it's such an honor to be here to see my
24 friend William Davis be inducted. He has worked to get
25 to this point for so many years. I'm represented by

1 the City of Detroit Water Department, where we worked
2 with your brother, Marty, for years.

3 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Yes.

4 MS. STILLWELL: And, he has fought for the
5 employees. He has fought for what's right, and I know
6 that this community is getting a gem by him being
7 elected to this board. So, I just want to say I'm so
8 proud of you. I'm so proud, and I say that on behalf
9 of all of your friends that have worked with you over
10 the years, that this community is going to be better
11 off because he is sitting on this board. Thank you so
12 much.

13 THE PUBLIC: All right.

14 (Applause)

15 MR. BROWN: Thank you. Former Commissioner
16 Reginald Crawford, followed by Mr. Wayne Bernard.

17 MR. CRAWFORD: All right. Good afternoon.
18 And, I would like to congratulate the commissioners of
19 2018, one might say. Good afternoon, Chief. And, I
20 just want to say that it was an honor to sit on this
21 board and I am most grateful that one has taken my seat
22 that I know will do the work that I have all due
23 respect for. We go back years, in community groups.
24 We founded Hood Research and were members of Hood
25 Research. So, Ms. Burch, it's an honor to have you

1 sitting in that seat. It's just that I look forward to
2 this commission being -- and, I know you will, being
3 just as active as the prior commission in the prior
4 years.

5 The -- in terms of the crime reductions, great
6 honor and respect goes out to the Detroit Police
7 Department and all of its officers, its Chief. The
8 numbers of crime has -- the numbers are falling.
9 However, I have a -- a -- one might say, a word of
10 warning. And, that is for those who, in the news
11 media, want to perpetuate and even some citizens who
12 aren't aware of the word perpetuate, the numbers in
13 terms of equating them with being the lowest crime
14 rates since the 1960's or 1966, and I can say that
15 because due to the fact that the numbers are what they
16 are, and the reduction is great. Chief Officer,
17 there's still more work to do, but I will say this,
18 that I -- I did -- I was pretty good at math in school.
19 And, in 1966, it was a million point five people in the
20 population of the City of Detroit. There were 214
21 homicides. In 2017, it was 267. I believe the number
22 267 is greater than 214. Also, too, the 1966 per
23 capita was 14 murders per 100,000. In 2017, it was 40
24 per 100,000. By the way, the population is 273,000.
25 So, that has always been an issue with me. Due to the

1 fact that I'm a young man from Mack and Bewick, '67, in
2 the 60's. Actually, born into the 50's. So, I know
3 what the City was like in the 60's, in the 50's. I
4 grew up here. I know that things are different today.
5 It's unfortunate that evolution has somewhat brought us
6 through this sense of lost community, so to speak.
7 Today, you call it the hood. Well, there are those
8 that call it the hood. Back then, we called it the
9 community because we all had a sense of the community.

10 THE PUBLIC: That's right.

11 MR. CRAWFORD: And, I just want to add to
12 that. In having a sense of community, I know that in
13 the 60's, you could walk to the corner store without a
14 robbing, a car jack, or purse snatch.

15 THE PUBLIC: Amen.

16 MR. CRAWFORD: I know that in the 60's, there
17 was no Plexiglass and no purse snatching. You didn't
18 need a green light. And, you didn't get car jacked at
19 the red light. So, I recall how there was that sense
20 of a community where we slept with our doors open, and
21 our windows. And, I pray and hope that one day, we can
22 return to that.

23 Having said that, I'm going to leave you with
24 something, Commissioners, because like I said, and with
25 all due respect and love, as one said, it's

1 intelligence to warn someone.

2 Now, due to the plea and conviction of Deputy
3 Chief Washington, I often times, prior to the vote, we
4 had a statement. It was called my full disclosure
5 statement, on this board. Some people didn't take it
6 seriously. I did. I took sitting on that board
7 seriously. It was -- and, that statement was somewhat
8 -- paraphrasing a little bit here. But in my full
9 disclosure statement, I would offer to state that I
10 never -- never accepted any endorsement or monies for
11 me, from any businesses, unions, or tow companies that
12 I'm above reproach, and are unbought and unbossed, as
13 Shirley Chisholm used to say.

14 So, I just add that -- just ask that everyone
15 remains on the board. And I'm sure that you will, but
16 looking at Mr. Davis, and I sat there on the board in
17 policy --

18 THE PUBLIC: Reggie, talk into the mic.

19 MR. CRAWFORD: One comes before this
20 Commission often, and as I told Mr. Davis, I'll be
21 standing where you are making opposite protests.

22 But the other -- I'll leave you with this note, a
23 quote from the honorable Dr. Martin Luther King.

24 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

25 MR. CRAWFORD: The arc of the moral universe

1 is long, but it bends towards justice. Thank you.

2 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

3 (Applause)

4 MR. CRAWFORD: God bless. God bless the
5 Commission. God bless the City of Detroit, and the
6 Police Department and the Police Chief. Thank you.

7 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

8 MR. BROWN: Mr. Wayne Bernard, followed by
9 Ms. Michelle George.

10 MR. BERNARD: Happy New Year. Good
11 afternoon. Welcome, William Davis. My District
12 finally being represented. I would like to talk -- my
13 name is Wayne Bernard, I'm talking for Watsworth
14 Community Block Club. There is no such thing as a Pave
15 Way Block Club. So, if someone comes up to you and say
16 they Pave Way, she's not. She lives on Thornton. Pave
17 Way is the whole area association. There's no such
18 thing as a Pave Way Block Club. She lives on Thornton.
19 She made it up. And, they're not being represented the
20 right way. And, the reason why I say that is because
21 we have bike lanes that came in on a bogus survey.
22 They have the bike lanes right there on Schaeffer.
23 Schaeffer was a two-lane highway. Now, it's one. One
24 on this side and one on this side, going north and
25 south. And, if you're riding the bike lane, it's a

1 175-dollar ticket. That's outrageous. We're paying
2 high insurance. What's going on in that area?
3 Schaeffer and Folly. Schaeffer and Fullerton. Right
4 there. If you ride down that street, around about
5 4:00, around about now, it's packed with people.

6 Oh, I get -- oh, okay. I'm going to rush
7 here. It's packed with people, but at 4:00, you can't
8 get passed because when you come out the driveway,
9 guess what? You're in the bike lane. Polices is
10 giving people 175-dollar tickets, but they're going to
11 court and beating them because they're not showing up.
12 Somebody wrote on the ticket, race unknown. And,
13 everybody in that area is just about black. And, the
14 police officer is black. Stop it. Thank you.

15 (Applause)

16 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, sir. So,
17 maybe you should -- have you connected with the
18 neighborhood police officer in your area to talk about
19 that?

20 MR. BERNARD: Yes, we have.

21 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: With the commander and
22 Captain?

23 MR. BERNARD: Yes, we have. I'm talking to
24 At-Large now. I'm talking to all the police. They
25 doing it in my area and they're doing it over there,

1 too.

2 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: All right, thank you.

3 MR. BERNARD: 175-dollar ticket is
4 ridiculous.

5 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Thank you, sir.
6 Thanks for bringing that to our attention.

7 MR. BROWN: Madam Chair, your next speaker
8 will be Ms. Michelle George.

9 MS. GEORGE: Happy New Year to everyone.

10 COMMISSIONERS: Happy New Year.

11 MS. GEORGE: To the Chair and the Board, and
12 Chief Craig. I just want to congratulate Mr. Davis,
13 our Chair. Congratulations.

14 (Applause)

15 MS. GEORGE: I want to touch and comment on
16 -- well, briefly what Wayne just talked about the bike
17 lanes, that is true. We do need to do something about
18 the bike lanes because I ride all over the bike lanes.
19 We do need to -- I know they mentioned it at the City
20 Council meetings, but we need to know what to do, or
21 the citizens need to know what to do when it comes to
22 the bike lanes. So, I agree with that.

23 And, I want to -- welcome to the other
24 commissioners, Commissioner Burch and Commissioner
25 Brown. I want to talk about briefly, because I know

1 I've got less than two minutes, first, I want to say as
2 a nurse, I need you to go to the website if you get a
3 chance, because of the cold temperatures, they have
4 warming centers that the officers need to know about
5 due to the cold temperatures. They're going to start
6 looking for people due to the -- for the weekend. But,
7 it is on Mayor Duggan's list of warming centers.

8 I also want to speak on human trafficking as well.
9 Michigan is number two in the country. And, as a
10 nurse, we're trying to get something out there about
11 HIV because we know officers deal with sexual assault
12 victims. And, we're going to try to make this a law as
13 nurses -- I get more nurses on board. There's a pill
14 to prevent HIV. And, when people are sexually
15 assaulted, they treat them for sexually transmitted
16 infections, but we also want them to offer the HIV med.

17 Number two, the marijuana. I know it's going to
18 go on the ballot. I have a hand-out here. Marijuana
19 and driving. And, due to the marijuana dispensaries
20 across the City of Detroit, it is a hazard. All you do
21 is smell weed everywhere. I see why Colorado
22 businesses are being affected. There are lawsuits in
23 the District Courts. There are places in Detroit I
24 will not go anymore. I will not go because it's weed
25 everywhere. And, the reason why it's important is that

1 new Kush causes headaches.

2 Right here, the marijuana and driving, as to
3 officers stopping people, I see when people are
4 driving, you can tell the difference with someone under
5 the influence, and the weed comes into your car. So,
6 we need to look out as they put it on the ballot.
7 There will be a hazard with this marijuana.

8 And, hopefully -- I did a presentation at the 2nd
9 police precinct last year. Ms. Butler had me speak,
10 what you don't know about marijuana will kill you. We
11 need to let you know what is going to happen as they
12 legalize this marijuana. Thank you.

13 (Applause)

14 MR. BROWN: Last speaker.

15 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Well, once again, I
16 would like to thank everyone for coming out this
17 afternoon. And, Happy New Year, again. We have some
18 refreshments outside that we will welcome you to enjoy
19 with us after the meeting.

20 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I briefly have one
21 thing to say. I would like to thank OCI for our
22 Christmas lunch. And, I'd also like to thank you all
23 for the great work that you do. I read complaints. I
24 am -- I'm just -- you all do so much hard work. When I
25 look at all the work that you do, and all the traveling

1 around you do, and the people you meet, my hat's off to
2 you all. You have big jobs and you have hard jobs.
3 So, continue your work. I enjoy working with you.
4 And, if Gail is out there, thank you, Gail, for all
5 you've done with our recruiting. And, I only see one
6 recruiting policeman out there, but I'm enjoying
7 working with all of you all. Thank you.

8 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Madam Chair, I would
9 just like a brief comment. I know she thought I
10 forgot, but I was just waiting to make her think I
11 forgot. But, I want to just thank my wife, Thelma
12 Brown, of 28 years so I can go home and sleep tonight
13 with both eyes closed.

14 (Applause)

15 COMMISSIONER BROWN: And, my mama out there
16 who supported me, to get me to this point. Thank you.

17 (Applause)

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thanks to all the
19 families and friends that support us in everything that
20 we do. Without you, we couldn't do it. And, thanks to
21 the staff for everything that you did and what you've
22 done for today. Today was a beautiful ceremony. And,
23 thank you for putting everything together.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: Move for adjournment.

25 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Move to support that we

1 adjourn. Those in favor.

2 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

3 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Meeting adjourned.

4 Thank you.

5 (The proceeding was adjourned at 4:19 p.m.)

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
) SS
COUNTY OF MACOMB)

I, Shacara V. Mapp, Certified Shorthand Reporter, a Notary Public in and for the above county and state, do hereby certify that I reported stenographically, the foregoing proceedings and testimony under oath at the time and place hereinbefore set forth; that thereafter, the same was reduced to computer transcription under my supervision; and that this is a true, full, and correct transcription of said proceedings.



Shacara V, Mapp,
CSR-9305

Notary Public
My Commission Expires: 07-25-2024

A			
Abano 22:9	ago 35:13	50:17 51:2,13	36:2,6 37:10
abbreviated 6:7	agree 52:22	51:18,25	37:16 41:11
able 41:1	ahead 5:25	arm 39:11	42:12
aboard 16:3	Amen 9:2,3,15	armed 42:7	badges 42:8
accepted 49:10	48:15	Army 26:2	ballot 53:18
access 14:15,23	America 12:20	arrest 27:3	54:6
accurate 35:24	AmeriCorp 19:21	asked 5:18 15:6	Baptist 7:14 8:1
achieve 9:13	19:24	57:13	16:18 39:12
achieved 12:17	amidst 41:14	asking 7:12	beating 51:11
13:12	analyst 32:7	assault 53:11	beautiful 55:22
acknowledge 20:9	and/or 21:4	assaulted 53:15	beauty 41:14
21:16 25:2,20	Angeles 27:22	assigned 35:18	beginning 30:24
26:2	announced 27:5	37:10,16	behalf 4:10
Act 6:11 8:11	Announcements	assignment 29:1	29:12 39:12
action 6:9,18	38:14	assignments 6:13	46:8
19:7	answers 57:13	Assistant 3:8	behavior 42:9
actions 9:9	anybody 18:10	22:16 23:6	belated 41:7
active 28:23	anymore 53:24	association 12:2	believe 5:24
33:24 45:9	Applause 15:23	50:17	16:14 19:6,7
47:3	17:18 18:19	assurance 33:4	32:16 40:4
actively 12:6	19:8 21:10,19	At-Large 2:3,4,5	47:21
activities 8:5	21:22 22:3	14:24 16:7	believer 27:25
10:14	42:17 43:15	17:20,25 51:24	Bell 2:6 7:23
Activity 38:16	45:4 46:14	attending 4:11	11:11,12 34:24
add 48:11 49:14	50:3 51:15	7:22 25:8 29:8	36:16 37:12
address 6:5 7:1	52:14 54:13	29:9	44:14 55:24
13:5	55:14,17	attention 52:6	belong 32:22
adjourn 56:1	appoint 5:14,15	Attorney 39:6	bends 50:1
adjourned 56:3,5	appointed 4:22	audience 6:6,24	Bernard 28:25
adjournment	5:4,10 21:4	21:17,21 22:9	46:16 50:8,10
55:24	appreciate 11:9	38:25	50:13 51:20,23
administer 5:19	18:9 25:16	Audio-Visual	52:3
20:10	33:22 34:5	24:19	Bernice 40:21
Administration	45:1,15	Avenue 1:5 31:16	42:20 45:22
11:19	appreciative	award 27:6,16	best 9:13 15:10
admit 10:3	10:5	aware 47:12	15:20 18:22
adopt 32:17	approached 33:8	Aye 23:22 24:7	34:3 39:18
adopts 41:19	approaching	35:5 37:3,23	43:5
advanced 32:11	15:18	56:2	better 17:11
advantage 14:19	appropriate 23:1		25:22 27:15
affirm 21:1	30:23	B	44:20 46:10
afternoon 4:4,5	approval 23:16	back 8:4,10	Bewick 48:1
8:7 9:25 10:3	23:17,25 24:2	11:23 16:6,24	Beyond 42:6
11:11 16:8	approve 6:11	22:18 25:8	big 16:5 27:25
22:17 43:24,25	24:4 34:25	39:21 42:25	43:6,7 55:2
46:17,19 50:11	35:15 36:6,13	43:7,17,18	bike 50:21,22,25
54:17	37:13	45:13 46:23	51:9 52:16,18
age 41:19 42:3	approved 35:2	48:8	52:18,22
agencies 11:6	arc 49:25	backed 16:12	Bill 42:19,23
agenda 6:23	Archer's 14:2	backpacks 41:23	Billingslea
23:15,20,25	area 7:5 14:22	bad 12:25	37:10,16
	30:10 40:5	badge 35:17,22	birth 30:18

bit 7:24 19:10 29:20 39:21 41:14 49:8	Brown 2:7,14 7:1 7:1 10:21,21 11:9 20:20 23:18 24:2 39:2 40:16,20 42:19 43:22 44:10 45:19 46:15 50:8 52:7,25 54:14 55:8,12,15	card 7:2 39:5 cards 39:3 care 42:10 career 11:23 Carlito 41:11 carries 23:23 24:9 35:7 37:5 37:25	Chairperson 2:2 4:4,6 9:16 10:3 13:21 17:4 19:9 20:14 21:14,20 21:23 22:4,16 22:20 23:14,19 23:23 24:3,8 24:11 25:7,10 29:12 34:8,14 34:16 35:2,6 35:20,25 36:12 37:1,4,13,24 38:5,7,12,22 40:15,18 42:18 43:16,19 49:24 50:2,7 51:16 51:21 52:2,5 54:15 55:18,25 56:3
black 13:16 51:13,14	Burch 2:10 16:8 16:9 32:19 33:22 34:4,9 34:11,15 40:6 40:12 46:25 52:24	Carter 2:2 4:4,6 4:9 8:12 9:16 13:21 19:9 20:14 21:14,20 21:23 22:4,16 22:20 23:14,19 23:23 24:3,8 24:11 25:7,10 29:12 34:8,14 34:16 35:2,6 35:25 36:12 37:1,4,13,24 38:5,7,12,22 40:15,18 42:18 43:16,19 49:24 50:2,7 51:16 51:21 52:2,5 54:15 55:18,25 56:3	challenge 12:17 13:18
bless 8:20,23,24 17:17 50:4,4,5	Bureau 23:3	Cass 30:20	Chambers 23:9,9
block 32:23 33:6 50:14,15,18	bureaucratic 10:13	caught 31:17	chance 22:19 29:6 43:2 53:3
blue 30:8,9,9,13	Burton 2:8 9:19 9:20,21 10:1	cause 29:17 57:19	chances 8:21
board 1:1 2:15 4:7,10,13,14 4:21 5:20 6:21 6:22,23 7:1 9:10,12 10:4,5 10:8,11 11:1 11:18,22,25 12:22 13:7,25 16:21 17:4 18:15 19:15,17 20:7 25:14,16 25:24 29:12 34:9,12 39:8 42:21 43:9 44:2 45:14 46:7,11,21 49:5,6,15,16 52:11 53:13	business 6:8,19 18:7 24:16 28:13 34:2,21 34:22 40:13	causes 54:1	change 35:16 36:14 37:8,14
body 5:17,21	businesses 25:25 30:25 31:1,1 33:25 34:10 49:11 53:22	Cass 30:20	charge 8:3
bogus 50:21	Butler 54:9	caught 31:17	chart 28:4
BOPC 24:24 34:22	C	cause 29:17 57:19	charter 4:19 11:25 21:3
born 48:2	calendar 4:8,12 6:12 34:22,25 35:3	causes 54:1	cheers 21:10
bragged 43:3,4	call 14:25 19:6 29:5,25 30:11 32:5 48:7,8	cease 28:1,4,5	Chicago 29:10
Bridget 23:2	called 27:8 31:20 32:21 48:8 49:4	center 20:4 28:10 31:10,18 32:10 38:16	chief 3:6,7,8 6:16 7:21 11:2 11:8,19 12:5,6 13:11 14:4 15:12 17:3,21 18:13 22:13,14 22:16,17,24 23:6 25:6,8,9 25:13 29:14,17 29:23 32:15,19 32:20,24 33:12 33:18,21 34:5 34:17 35:11,16 36:13 37:8,14 38:4,6 43:1,4 43:8,11,13,13 43:16,18 44:6 45:16 46:19
brief 6:3,5 32:2 39:19 55:9	cameras 31:3 33:5	centers 53:4,7	
briefly 19:10 52:16,25 54:20	camp 41:20	ceremony 55:22	
bright 42:14	campaign 22:1	certain 31:22	
bring 5:16 8:22 16:25 20:1 27:3 42:25	Candidate 23:3	certainly 28:11 31:11	
bringing 52:6	capacity 13:7	CERTIFICATE 57:1	
broadcast 24:20	capita 47:23	Certified 57:7	
Brooks 2:4 15:4 15:24 16:6 17:24,25 54:20	Captain 23:4,8,9 23:11 51:22	certify 57:9	
brother 46:2	car 48:14,18 54:5	Chair 4:9 7:23 24:14 29:16 33:22 35:9 36:16,24 37:6 38:11 39:2 52:7,11,13 55:8	
brought 30:25 34:11 43:6 48:5		Chairman 39:7	

47:7,16 49:3
 50:6 52:12
Chief's 27:7,8
children 41:15
 41:19
Chisholm 49:13
Christmas 41:6
 54:22
church 7:15 8:1
 8:5 16:18,18
 39:12
churches 16:16
circumstances
 42:5
cite 9:5
cities 32:13
citizen 4:16
citizens 4:15,20
 7:6 9:23 10:16
 17:3 29:4
 30:16 42:4,11
 47:11 52:21
city 4:19 5:16
 5:18 8:25 9:7
 10:15 11:6,21
 13:24 14:7,18
 14:24 15:11,25
 16:7 17:6 18:3
 18:3,6,25 19:5
 19:12,25 20:2
 21:3 24:20
 27:23 28:6
 31:21 32:12
 44:6,20 46:1
 47:20 48:3
 50:5 52:19
 53:20
Citywide 42:24
civil 12:3,19,22
civilian 5:1
 19:7 27:11
 32:7
clean 30:7
clear 30:2 31:7
clerk 5:18,25
 22:5,6,10 24:9
 24:10
Cleveland 32:14
clock 27:2 42:2
closed 55:13
closely 25:15
closure 27:3

clothing 41:23
club 32:23 33:6
 50:14,15,18
cold 53:3,5
Coleman 12:13,14
 12:14 44:13
collaboration
 26:5
colleagues 10:2
Colorado 53:21
colors 30:21
Comcast 31:4
come 16:2,6
 39:24 43:5
 44:21 45:9,13
 51:8
comes 33:12
 49:19 50:15
 52:21 54:5
coming 7:20
 15:14 17:1,15
 20:11 21:11
 22:2,7,9 25:4
 29:6,7 45:1,16
 54:16
commander 33:13
 51:21
commend 41:10
 42:13 44:5
comment 52:15
 55:9
comments 6:24
 39:1
commission 4:9
 7:11 14:2
 18:10 24:13
 47:2,3 49:20
 50:5 57:25
commissioner 2:6
 2:7,8,9,10,11
 5:6,9,10,12
 7:23 9:19,20
 9:21,25 10:1
 10:12,21,22
 11:9,11,12
 13:21,22,23
 14:1,9 15:4,6
 15:9,24 16:8,9
 17:7,19,24
 18:2,12,16,20
 21:20 23:18
 24:2 25:3,5

29:16 32:19
 33:22 34:4,9
 34:11,12,15,24
 35:1,8,19,20
 36:2,3,8,10,11
 36:16,23 37:6
 37:12 38:10,12
 38:21 39:9
 40:7,22 44:12
 45:14,20 46:3
 46:15 52:24,24
 54:20 55:8,15
 55:24
Commissioner's
 44:17
commissioners
 1:1 2:1 4:5,7
 4:23,25 5:4,5
 5:8,23 6:1,4
 7:7 8:24 9:11
 9:18 11:23,24
 13:25 14:25
 16:2 17:13,20
 19:10,15 20:7
 21:5,6,17
 23:22,24 24:7
 28:16 29:14
 34:18,20 35:5
 37:3,23 41:2,8
 42:22 44:1,4
 45:8 46:18
 48:24 52:10,24
 56:2
commitment 26:25
committee 6:20
communication
 38:24
communications
 6:21 34:18
communities 15:8
community 9:15
 14:21 25:25
 30:15,17 32:21
 33:17,25 34:1
 38:17 46:6,10
 46:23 48:6,9,9
 48:12,20 50:14
community-minded
 41:22
companies 49:11
company 18:8
complaints 54:23

complement 5:17
compliment 15:21
comply 6:10
computer 57:15
concerns 13:3
 14:16
conduct 24:16
conference 8:6
 14:4 16:5
 25:17 31:15
confess 11:15
conflict 42:9,10
congratulate
 46:18 52:12
congratulations
 5:12 21:8
 52:13
connected 51:17
Conrad 2:9 5:9
 10:1
consider 21:8
consistent 24:17
constantly 44:7
constitution
 21:1,2
constitutional
 12:19
contact 18:11
continue 9:22
 12:18 13:19
 20:1 28:8,9,17
 44:11 55:3
continues 28:4
 39:24
control 4:16,20
 23:10 42:6
 44:25
conviction 49:2
convinced 19:13
 33:9
copies 43:20
copy 7:17 43:14
corner 48:13
correct 37:21
 57:16
corrected 36:5
Council 5:16
 52:20
counsel 57:18
counted 40:6
country 12:5,9
 12:10,16 13:2

13:4 53:9
county 19:19
 22:4 57:5,8,24
couple 21:16
court 24:22
 51:11
Courts 53:23
cousin 39:11,15
 39:16
Craig 3:7 7:21
 11:2,8 12:5
 13:11 15:12
 17:3,22 22:13
 22:14 25:9,13
 29:15,23 32:20
 32:24 33:21
 34:5 36:13
 37:8,14 38:4,6
 43:4,11,13,18
 52:12
Crawford 21:17
 40:22 45:20
 46:16,17 48:11
 48:16 49:19,25
 50:4
create 30:1
credit 26:20
crime 11:6 14:5
 23:8 26:12,14
 26:16,25 27:9
 28:10,15 31:7
 31:10,17,18
 32:7,10 47:5,8
 47:13
crimes 26:15
 31:22
critical 10:10
crow 40:3
CSR-9305 57:22
cultures 17:1
currently 39:2
Curt 23:11
Curtis 38:17
custody 32:3

D

D 2:7 43:6
D-1 10:22
D.I.A 15:8
Dallas 43:1,6
Danni 45:19
Danny 40:21

43:22 45:22
Darryl 2:7 10:21
daughter 29:6,8
 29:9
David 39:13
Davis 2:11 18:16
 18:17,20 45:24
 46:3 49:16,20
 50:11 52:12
day 8:14 15:25
 24:11,22 48:21
days 18:25 19:1
 31:22
dead 28:24
deal 12:25 13:8
 13:9 53:11
dealing 13:15
Dear 8:15
death 41:16
December 24:1,5
decision 36:20
decisions 9:10
deeply 10:4 27:4
definition 31:3
democratic 4:17
demonstration
 8:6
department 4:17
 5:2 7:6 9:14
 11:2,17 12:15
 12:16 13:14,17
 13:18 14:3,19
 15:20 19:20
 20:5 25:23
 26:22 27:8
 28:25 34:19
 43:5 46:1 47:7
 50:6
departments 32:8
depicted 28:5
deposition 57:9
Deputy 21:24
 49:2
Dequindre 32:22
Derrick 2:5
 17:19
Detroit 1:1,4,6
 4:1,14,19 5:15
 5:18 8:23 9:10
 9:24 10:15,23
 11:7,13,17,21
 13:4 18:3,4,25

19:1,12,14,25
 20:2 21:3
 24:20 26:1,22
 27:8 28:25
 37:21 46:1
 47:6,20 50:5
 53:20,23
Detroiters 12:12
Dewaeische 2:3
 13:21,22,23
 29:16 35:8
 36:3,10 37:6
 38:10,13,21
difference 13:15
 35:21 54:4
different 17:1
 18:6,7 30:15
 48:4
direction 36:23
directions 41:24
Director 21:24
disclosure 49:4
 49:9
discussion 23:20
 24:5 35:4
 36:15 37:2,17
dispensaries
 53:19
disrespectful
 44:22
Dist 2:2,6,7,8,9
 2:10,11
distinct 11:16
distinctive
 27:12 30:13
distributed 6:12
 35:12
district 4:10,24
 5:11 9:22
 10:22,25 11:12
 11:21 16:10
 17:8,9 18:23
 19:4,11 21:18
 21:24,25,25
 28:13 33:11
 50:11 53:23
districts 4:22
disturbance
 12:22
diversified
 13:17
division 41:16

divisions 41:21
 41:22
documentation
 35:22
doing 11:5 14:3
 14:9 16:22
 17:3 21:15
 24:20 28:17
 32:12 51:25,25
donations 41:23
door 17:22
doors 48:20
downtown 30:8
downtown/ 30:10
DPD 13:13 41:16
 41:19,22
Dr 49:23
driveway 51:8
driving 53:19
 54:2,4
dropped 43:1
DTE 31:5
due 46:22 47:15
 47:25 48:25
 49:2 53:5,6,19
Duggan 22:1
Duggan's 53:7
duly 57:11,14
duties 21:4
duty 28:23 29:1
 29:2 35:16
 36:14 37:8,14

E

E 2:6,8 3:7 7:21
eager 6:4
earlier 26:9,19
 28:5
early 11:24
 12:12
east 11:13 19:12
 19:16
eastside 37:20
Edgar 21:20
educate 33:15
effective 28:1
effectiveness
 32:4
efforts 11:4
Eight 38:6,7
either 43:6
 57:18

elaborate 7:24
 29:20 32:20
elderly 42:4
elected 4:21,24
 4:25 5:1,3,4
 5:11 10:5,22
 11:20 19:4,15
 20:7 21:4 22:8
 46:7
electing 10:25
election 10:6
elective 22:7
Elizabeth 2:4
 16:6
Ellis 28:25
embraced 19:14
 41:20
Emergency 8:10
Employee 23:3
employees 46:5
encourage 33:1
encouraged 32:24
ended 26:10,12
 26:13,16,17
endorsement
 49:10
enforce 42:10
enforcement 9:8
 11:6 12:4 13:2
 13:10
enjoy 16:4 54:18
 55:3
enjoying 55:6
entire 5:21
 14:24 40:5
entirely 36:21
equal 12:3
equating 47:13
especially 20:6
 26:24 29:20
 32:11
Eva 2:3 13:23
evening 9:24
 14:21 18:16
 42:21,22
event 25:21
 57:18
everybody 16:12
 22:24 23:1
 43:20 51:13
evolution 48:5
evolve 28:9

exactly 17:6
 31:12 36:19
example 32:4
exceeded 26:18
Excellence 27:7
excellent 43:11
 43:12
exchange 7:6
excited 9:22
 28:18
exciting 10:11
Executive 2:14
exit 31:25
expanded 4:20
experience 19:18
expires 57:25
eyes 55:13

F

face 41:4
facilities 30:12
fact 29:3 47:15
 48:1
Faith 39:6 40:16
 40:23,25 41:5
 42:16
falling 47:8
familiar 8:9
 29:19 30:9
families 27:3
 41:7,18,19
 55:19
family 17:15,16
 19:16,17 29:11
 29:13 41:25
famous 17:8
far 44:6
fascinating
 33:23
fashioned 45:6
Father 8:13
fathers 41:15
favor 23:21 24:6
 35:4 37:2,22
 56:1
February 38:18
 38:19,22
feel 5:5,7 14:7
 14:9,25 15:22
 15:24
fellow 7:7
felt 15:14

female 13:16
fighting 8:3
 27:17
fill 5:16
filled 8:21
finally 50:12
find 17:13
fire 28:1,4,5
first 4:8,12
 6:10 10:4
 17:21 22:23
 28:13 39:5
 53:1 57:11
five 11:18 47:19
folks 25:19
 26:20
follow 16:15,15
followed 5:22
 39:6 40:16,20
 42:19 43:22
 45:19 46:16
 50:8
following 45:21
Folly 51:3
force 32:5
forces 42:7
foregoing 57:13
forgot 55:10,11
formed 12:22
former 21:17
 42:24 45:20
 46:15
Forsythe 7:13,18
 7:24 8:13 9:4
 9:17 16:19
forth 57:11
forthcoming
 38:19
forward 5:15
 7:19,20 11:1
 25:15 47:1
fought 46:4,5
found 28:23
founded 46:24
four 4:22 5:3
 11:14,18 27:20
 28:2
free 5:7 14:25
friend 33:15
 45:24
friends 19:3
 46:9 55:19

front 22:5
full 5:17 49:4,8
 57:16
Fullerton 51:3
future 13:1,9
 41:13 42:15

G

Gail 55:4,4
Garza 2:3 13:23
gas 30:3 32:25
 33:3,7,9 34:13
 37:20
gem 46:6
George 50:9 52:8
 52:9,11,15
getting 8:10
 11:20 46:6
give 6:1,2,5
 8:16,17 16:10
 17:21 22:19,19
 26:19,21 27:16
 38:25 39:21
 43:9,17,18,19
 43:20,21
gives 33:4
giving 16:23
 27:6 51:10
glad 10:17 18:2
 18:2
glory 8:22
go 5:25 26:7
 29:10,13 30:5
 30:13,16 32:25
 33:3 41:4
 46:23 53:2,18
 53:24,24 55:12
goal 16:21 26:18
 28:12 34:6
God 8:13,15,19
 8:22 16:11
 17:17 50:4,4,5
goes 47:6
going 5:25 7:13
 7:15,17 16:3
 16:15,24 17:11
 18:1,22 20:15
 20:18 22:13
 26:9,23 32:16
 33:25 34:1
 39:19,20,22
 40:2 41:1 43:9

43:16 44:25
 45:10 46:10
 48:23 50:24
 51:2,6,10 53:5
 53:12,17 54:11
good 4:4,5 9:25
 11:11 12:25
 15:15 16:8
 17:23 18:15,16
 18:22 22:17
 24:11 42:21,22
 43:24,25 45:14
 46:17,19 47:18
 50:10
goodwill 41:21
gotten 15:13
governance 4:17
grace 8:16,25
gracious 9:1
graduated 30:20
grateful 8:14
 46:21
great 13:18 16:3
 25:16,21 47:5
 47:16 54:23
greater 9:14
 47:22
green 28:11,12
 28:13,15 29:19
 30:18,19,21,22
 31:2,5,9 32:11
 32:12,24 33:1
 33:9,10,20,24
 34:3,13 48:18
GREGORY 2:15
grew 19:12 48:4
grieving 41:14
ground 32:6
groups 19:1,4
 46:23
Grove 7:14,25
 16:19
Grove's 7:25
Guardians 12:1
guess 51:9
guide 8:15
guided 9:11
guys 25:3,10

H

half 27:20 28:23
Hall 43:1

hand 20:23 39:4
hand-out 53:18
happen 54:11
happened 15:10
happens 39:10
happy 4:6 10:23
 18:5 19:16
 25:3 40:25
 41:6 44:2,4
 50:10 52:9,10
 54:17
hard 12:18 31:8
 39:9,10,14,23
 41:18 54:24
 55:2
hardest 39:18
harmony 9:7
hat 15:11
hat's 55:1
hats 16:25,25
 44:18,21 45:3
haven 30:12
havens 30:7
hazard 53:20
 54:7
head 15:16 44:14
headaches 54:1
HEADQUARTERS 1:4
hear 11:4 14:17
 34:23 41:3,5
heard 10:9 27:6
 27:25
hearing 11:14
heart 29:10
hearts 9:6
hello 40:23,24
help 8:18 14:10
 30:11 33:12
 39:25 41:16,20
 41:23
helped 41:18
helps 18:8
hereinbefore
 57:10
Hicks 2:15 24:12
 24:14 25:5
 35:1 36:23
hide 31:8
high 31:2 51:2
highly 42:1
highway 50:23
Hispanic 13:16

Historically
 13:8
history 12:23,24
HIV 53:11,14,16
hold 20:15 22:18
holiday 41:20
home 16:17 27:22
 27:22 28:24
 55:12
Homeland 42:7
Homicide 23:12
homicides 26:10
 47:21
Honestly 30:20
honor 8:23 11:16
 16:10 17:15
 45:23 46:20,25
 47:6
honorable 20:10
 42:1 49:23
honored 45:21
hoo 18:18
hood 46:24,24
 48:7,8
hope 5:20 7:5
 14:19 28:3
 32:18 48:21
hopeful 5:13
hopefully 54:8
hot 31:20
hotspots 31:21
hour 28:23
hours 31:21
house 14:13
human 23:2 42:13
 53:8
humanity 42:14
humble 9:6
humbled 18:23,24
hundred 29:22,22
husband 19:13

I

idea 29:24,25
identify 27:2
 30:6
ignore 12:21
images 31:6,7
imagine 28:6,14
impact 12:11
 28:15
important 6:9

29:18 53:25
impressed 32:16
impressive 14:5
improved 31:4
Improvement 27:9
incident 38:3
include 4:21 7:9
including 25:5
 27:10
Incognito 22:6
incoming 6:21
increasing 17:11
indicate 7:8
 24:15
indicated 12:6
 40:4
indication 27:24
individual 24:25
inducted 45:24
infections 53:16
influence 54:5
information 15:1
 29:7 35:10,12
 42:25 44:15
initial 11:25
inner 36:4
ins 17:10
instance 10:16
instrumental 8:2
 8:8
insurance 51:2
intelligence
 49:1
intense 33:5
interact 11:25
interacting
 12:10
interest 5:20,24
 24:23 34:3
interested 57:18
Internal 23:10
intricates 17:5
introduce 7:20
 22:25 24:13
introductions
 9:18 25:1
investigative
 7:11
Investigator
 11:19
investigators
 25:6 27:1

invocation 7:13
7:14,16 9:4,5
involved 12:6
15:15 33:19
37:19 38:3
involvement 12:1
12:8
ironic 31:23
issue 47:25
issues 12:20,21
13:5,9,15
items 6:9

J

jack 48:14
jacked 48:18
James 3:7 7:21
36:13 37:14
Jan 23:20
Janice 5:18
20:10
January 1:3 4:2
23:16 38:15
Jefferson 39:13
job 11:2 17:3
18:9 21:12
27:14 43:11,12
44:6
jobs 18:7 55:2,2
Johnson 22:23
join 5:3
joined 10:4
JR 2:9
justice 9:11
50:1

K

Kalamazoo 17:16
Kappa 41:24
keep 8:25 42:16
45:17
key 27:21
kill 54:10
kind 15:11 43:3
King 49:23
know 12:23,23
14:5,6,9,17
15:4,10,13,18
15:19,25 16:2
16:12 17:3,4
17:10,10 18:25
19:25 22:10

26:7 27:5,17
28:10 29:24
30:21,21 31:9
31:20 32:8,9
32:12 33:14
34:8 35:21,22
36:19,19 38:8
40:25 44:8,16
44:20 45:1,15
45:16 46:5,22
47:2 48:2,4,12
48:16 52:19,20
52:21,25 53:4
53:11,17 54:10
54:11 55:9

known 39:15,17
39:19 40:1
44:11
knows 38:9 44:7
Kush 54:1

L

L 39:13
lady 15:16 17:14
45:10
Lamar 23:2,2
lane 50:25 51:9
lanes 50:21,22
52:17,18,18,22
LAPD 12:7
large 18:8
LASHINDA 3:8
late 41:1
law 9:8 11:5
12:4 13:1,10
42:10 53:12
lawful 24:17
lawsuits 53:22
Leach 33:13
lead 7:14,15
leadership 8:1
12:13 13:12,13
13:19 14:3
leading 8:3
leave 48:23
49:22
left 45:7
legacy 12:24
13:13
legalize 54:12
Leslie 8:2
Let's 34:23

license 31:7
lieutenant 11:19
19:20 22:23
life 17:9 39:10
lifelong 13:24
18:4 19:11
light 28:11,13
29:19 30:9,9
30:18,19 31:2
31:9 32:11,12
32:24 33:1,3,9
33:10,20,24
34:3,13 48:18
48:19

lighting 31:4
lights 28:12,15
30:8,13 31:5
limit 7:3 39:1
liquor 30:4
Lisa 2:2 4:9
list 6:22,22
53:7

listed 36:18
little 7:24
16:20 17:13
19:10 29:20
39:21 49:8
live 8:18 17:8
30:5

lived 17:9
lives 50:16,18
lobby 7:5 8:11
lobbying 8:2
located 38:16
location 14:12
31:19 38:19
locations 29:5
30:6,13 31:4
long 12:2 20:13
20:14 29:21
39:17 50:1

Lonnie 35:17,25
36:14 38:1,2
look 11:23 12:5
12:16 25:14
26:5 27:19,22
28:19 34:2
47:1 54:6,25
looking 10:25
49:16 53:6
Los 27:22
lost 41:15 48:6

lot 13:12 28:6
45:7
lots 22:22
Louis 7:13,24
love 8:19 14:13
45:16 48:25
loved 19:3
lowest 47:13
lunch 54:22
Luther 49:23

M

ma'am 20:11
22:17 32:18
34:16
Mack 48:1
Mack's 16:20
Macomb 57:5,24
Madam 7:23 22:6
24:9,10,14
29:16 34:24
35:8,8,20
36:16 37:6
38:10 39:2,7
52:7 55:8

majority 16:13
making 14:18
49:21
Mallett 2:9 5:10
5:12 9:25 10:1
25:3 35:20
36:2,8,11

mama 44:23 55:15
man 19:1 48:1
management 30:16
manager 2:14
21:25,25 22:1
Mapp 24:21 57:7
57:22

marijuana 53:17
53:18,19 54:2
54:7,10,12
marks 4:23
married 19:13
39:15

Martin 49:23
Marty 46:2
marvelous 17:3,4
materials 35:14
math 47:18
Matter 8:10
Matthew 8:2

mayor 4:22 5:14 5:14 12:14 14:1,4 22:1 25:18 27:25 53:7	Michelle 50:9 52:8	9:2 13:23 16:8 17:19 18:17 38:25 40:12 42:23 45:22 50:13	northwest 10:23 38:16
mean 7:18 24:25 34:19 36:21 43:6	Michigan 1:6 4:1 6:10 29:8 53:9 57:3,24	napkin 29:25 narcotic 29:5 narcotics 29:1 nation 12:9 necessary 42:4 need 6:10 12:3,4 18:9,10,10,14 30:11,11,11 36:5 48:18 52:17,19,20,21 53:2,4 54:6,11	Notary 57:1,8,23 note 5:9 28:22 37:18 49:22 notes 57:17 notice 18:6 notified 28:22 NPO 33:14 NPOs 33:13 number 29:4 32:13 36:2 44:12,13 47:21 53:9,17
means 44:13	mid-town 30:10	needs 14:16 41:25	numbers 11:4 47:8,8,12,15
med 29:9 53:16	mighty 9:21 10:23 18:20	neighborhood 23:7 28:16 32:22 33:7,15 33:19 51:18	nurse 53:2,10 nurses 53:13,13
Medal 27:7,9	Mile 38:6,7	neighborhoods 26:3 30:1,3,5 30:14,23	<hr/> O <hr/>
media 47:11	million 47:19	neighbors 32:25 never 10:15 16:22 49:10,10 new 4:6,13 5:19 6:18 8:20,21 9:10 16:2 25:3 25:14 27:6 31:10 32:9 34:22 40:25 41:6 44:1,2,4 44:24 45:8 50:10 52:9,10 54:1,17	oath 5:19 20:11 20:24 21:12 occurring 31:22 OCI 54:21 offer 49:9 53:16 offered 31:2 office 3:6 5:19 10:25 11:19 20:11,24 21:12 22:24 25:6 36:4
meet 12:17 55:1	mindful 8:14	newly 4:25 5:3,4 5:4	officer 28:23,25 33:15 35:17,25 36:14 37:9,15 37:19 38:2,2 47:16 51:14,18
meeting 1:2 4:8 4:8,11,12 6:8 6:15,25 14:12 14:21 15:14 24:18 25:8 29:7 38:14,17 43:3 44:17 45:9 54:19 56:3	Minister 7:25	news 12:25,25 31:6 37:19 47:10	officers 6:17,18 13:16,16,16 15:12,19 27:1 33:16 35:11 47:7 53:4,11 54:3
meetings 6:11,11 8:5 10:12 14:14 34:23,25 35:3 44:19,22 45:2 52:20	minute 43:17	night 15:25 nine 6:3,4 nodding 15:16 non-badge 41:12 42:13 Non-fatal 26:13 non-sworn 27:10 27:11	officially 21:8 officials 22:8 oh 8:21 22:4,5 22:14 51:6,6 Ohio 32:14 okay 20:14,17 21:15 22:20 24:11 26:15 29:23 36:3,9 38:7 41:5 51:6
meeting 1:2 4:8 4:8,11,12 6:8 6:15,25 14:12 14:21 15:14 24:18 25:8 29:7 38:14,17 43:3 44:17 45:9 54:19 56:3	minutes 7:3 13:19 14:11 15:5 16:1 20:12 23:25 24:4 32:2 36:18,21,25 39:1,20 53:1	north 50:24	
Meijer's 38:3	missed 29:3		
member 7:10 14:24 27:7,10	Mission 8:3		
members 4:13,14 4:21 5:17 7:6 9:13 11:25 12:7 24:24 25:14 27:10,11 27:11,12 32:15 32:23 39:7 46:24	Mistress 23:15		
memo 36:4	mobile 37:20		
memorandum 36:4	model 28:4 32:17		
men 8:24 26:21 33:3 42:2 44:18,21	monies 49:10		
mentioned 52:19	month 5:13 14:20 28:14		
mercy 8:16,25	moral 49:25		
Merry 41:6	morning 31:15		
mess 40:10	mothers 41:15		
Meyers 38:16	motion 23:16,23 24:9 34:23 35:7,15 36:6 37:5,7,25		
mic 20:20,21 25:12 41:2,3 49:18	motions 35:9		
Michael 23:9	mouth 16:15		
	move 19:13 23:16 23:19 24:2 34:24 35:3,18 36:10 37:11 55:24,25		
	moved 24:4 36:12		
	moving 28:2		
	multiplier 32:5		
	mundane 10:13		
	murder 26:25		
	murders 27:23 47:23		
	<hr/> N <hr/>		
	name 4:9 5:15		

52:5
old 27:22 34:21
 34:21 45:6,6
once 54:15
ones 19:3 25:22
open 6:10 8:7
 17:22 28:12
 31:12 48:20
opened 31:10
opening 6:1
opens 16:14
opera 15:8
opportunities
 8:21 11:24
opportunity 7:5
 10:8,17,20
 11:22 12:4
 13:6 14:14
opposed 24:8
 35:6 37:4,24
opposite 49:21
optimistic 28:8
oral 6:24 38:24
order 12:25
 42:10
organization
 24:19 32:21
organizations
 19:2
original 39:16
outrageous 51:1
outside 7:4
 54:18
outturn 25:19
overall 26:12,16
oversight 5:2
 19:7
owner 33:8

P

p.m 4:3 38:15,18
 38:23 56:5
package 6:14
packed 14:13
 51:5,7
packets 34:19
PAGE 1:8
PAL 41:24
paper 43:7,14
paramedics 42:7
paraphrasing
 49:8

parents 41:17
part 4:17 7:8
 10:17 20:16
 39:16
participate 7:12
 10:17
participation
 15:2
participatory
 10:18
particular 12:18
 39:9
partnered 30:25
 31:1
partners 28:7
party 57:18
passed 51:8
Pastor 39:13
path 12:19
patience 8:17
patrol 26:3 32:6
patrols 26:4
Pave 50:14,16,16
 50:18
pay 6:18 35:17
 36:15,18,20
 37:9,15
paying 51:1
peace 8:17 9:7
 16:18 26:2
 39:12 41:21
 42:6
Peddlers 26:2
people 10:9
 11:21 13:3
 14:6 16:13
 18:3,24,25
 21:16 29:18
 30:4 33:13
 41:12 42:12,13
 42:25 44:19
 47:19 49:5
 51:5,7,10 53:6
 53:14 54:3,3
 55:1
percent 26:11,11
 26:12,14,16,18
 26:19
perform 21:3
performed 7:9
perpetrator
 31:17

perpetuate 47:11
 47:12
person 17:5
 39:22 40:1,5,6
persons 41:11
 42:12
phone 25:18
pictures 34:10
pill 53:13
pin 27:11,12
place 8:12 10:14
 15:18 18:1
 30:4,15 57:10
placed 16:11
places 30:6
 53:23
plan 16:24
plates 31:8
played 33:25
plea 49:2
Pleasant 7:14,25
 7:25 16:18
please 6:5,13,14
 6:22,22 7:1,3
 7:18 14:25
 15:19 24:12
 29:22 37:1
 38:25 39:1,4
pleased 8:6 10:2
 10:19 11:20
 12:12 13:6,11
 16:2 18:23,24
 19:2 25:19
plenty 27:24
Plexiglass 48:17
PM 1:3
point 25:1 36:7
 45:25 47:19
 55:16
pointed 26:9
police 1:1 3:7,8
 4:7,16,16,20
 4:23 5:2,5,6,8
 6:4,16,18 7:11
 7:21 8:23 9:10
 9:14,18 11:1
 11:17,22 12:1
 12:7,8 13:25
 14:8,19,24
 15:6,9,12,19
 15:20 17:2,7
 18:2 19:15

20:7 21:4
 22:18 23:7
 25:23 26:22
 27:8 28:16,25
 30:11 32:2,6
 32:14 33:15
 34:1,19,20
 35:11,16,17,25
 36:14 37:8,9
 37:14,15 38:2
 43:5 44:5,12
 44:17 47:6
 50:6,6 51:14
 51:18,24 54:9
POLICE'S 3:6
policeman 55:6
policemens 15:11
Polices 51:9
policing 12:19
policy 49:17
population 47:20
 47:24
position 16:23
power 8:4,8,10
powerful 11:13
praise 18:15
pray 8:13,21 9:1
 48:21
prayer 8:7
prayers 29:10,13
precinct 14:22
 23:5 28:3
 35:18 37:10,16
 37:21,22 38:15
 38:18,23 54:9
precincts 28:5
presence 8:15
 25:17
present 13:1
 24:16
presentation
 54:8
presently 41:13
president 42:24
press 8:5 14:4
 16:4 25:17
 31:15
pretty 47:18
prevent 53:14
prior 47:3,3
 49:3
probably 22:24

28:22 32:16
 34:2 39:20,24
 40:13
proceeding 56:5
process 4:18
 10:18
processes 8:9
product 43:10
professional
 42:8
program 7:9
 19:24 20:16
progress 14:17
 32:22
progressing
 17:12
promote 41:21
 42:10
property 26:14
 26:15,17
protect 9:9 33:2
protection 9:8
protests 49:21
proud 9:23 11:3
 13:24 14:2
 16:9,16 17:7
 20:2,4,6 46:8
 46:8
provided 14:15
 35:10
public 1:4 9:3,6
 18:18 36:19
 38:9 40:24
 43:25 44:23
 46:13 48:10,15
 49:18 57:8,23
pull 31:25 41:3
purposes 26:8
purse 31:25
 48:14,17
pursuit 32:3
push 39:25
pushes 39:23
put 11:3 21:11
 31:6 36:24
 41:3 54:6
putting 55:23

Q

questions 5:7,7
 6:14 15:1
 28:21 29:14

34:17 57:13
Quinn 24:19
quite 41:14
quorum 24:16
quote 49:23

R

race 51:12
radio 26:3,4
raise 20:23 39:4
raising 13:3
rank 19:20
ranking 12:7
rates 47:14
rationale 36:17
Raymond 39:6
Razo 21:24
read 15:21 31:7
 54:23
reading 40:12
ready 21:9
reaffirmed 4:20
real 17:5 22:15
 29:18
real-time 28:10
 31:10,13,18
 32:9
really 10:8
 16:24 25:24
 26:19 30:24
 31:13
reason 50:20
 53:25
recall 48:19
received 7:17
recite 20:24
recognize 13:5
 27:18
recognized 42:3
recognizing
 25:22
recommendation
 36:17
recommendations
 35:12
record 24:15
 35:24 37:18
 38:1,8,25
recorded 57:14
recruit 15:19
recruiting 15:17
 55:5,6

red 48:19
reduce 11:6
reduced 26:14
 57:15
reduction 26:11
 26:14,16,18
 27:9 47:16
reductions 24:25
 47:5
reflect 36:21
reflects 12:15
reform 12:8
refreshments 7:4
 54:18
regard 14:10
regarding 35:11
regards 44:7
Reggie 44:19
 49:18
Reginald 21:17
 40:22 45:20
 46:16
REGULAR 1:2
related 57:17
relates 14:18
relationship
 17:22,23,24
 31:3
relatives 19:3
remains 49:15
remarks 5:23 6:1
 6:3,5 7:3
 22:18,19
remember 13:8
 31:14
remised 26:1
remove 44:21
removing 45:2
replicate 27:15
report 6:20 26:8
 29:5
reported 26:24
 31:14
reporter 24:22
 57:8
reports 6:20
 25:11
represent 4:10
 5:11 14:24
 16:7 19:5,11
representative
 18:8,22

representatives
 22:8
represented
 16:17 21:18
 45:25 50:12,19
representing 3:6
 9:21 18:20
reproach 49:12
request 35:9,15
 35:15 36:13
 37:7,7,13
requests 6:16
Research 46:24
 46:25
resident 13:24
 18:4 19:11
residents 9:14
 10:24 20:1
 32:25
resolve 4:15
resolved 18:14
Resources 23:2
respect 17:2,2
 45:2 46:23
 47:6 48:25
respond 20:24
responsible 29:3
rest 10:1
restrictive 29:2
restroom 30:12
result 19:14
retired 19:20,21
return 13:7
 48:22
returning 4:14
Reverend 7:13,18
 7:24 8:13 9:4
 9:17 16:19
 39:13
rewards 33:8
ribbon 27:14
ribbons 27:13
Richard 37:9,15
Rico 21:24
ride 51:4 52:18
ridiculous 52:4
riding 50:25
rifle 32:1
right 16:16,24
 20:17,20,21,23
 22:5,18 24:12
 28:7,11 34:4,4

34:14 36:9
 37:22 39:21
 40:8,11 44:9
 44:23 46:5,13
 46:17 48:10
 50:20,22 51:3
 52:2 54:2
Rights 12:3,19
Road 38:16
robbed 31:16
 33:5
robbing 48:14
ROBERT 2:14
role 5:1 17:6
 25:20 33:24
room 16:13
rotate 14:22
roughly 27:23
row 22:5
rule 44:17
rules 24:17
running 29:4
rush 51:6

S

safe 15:22,24
 30:6,7,7,12,16
safer 14:7 17:7
 33:17
safety 1:4 30:1
 33:4 42:11
Sanders 2:5
 17:19,20 35:19
Sarah 24:21
sat 49:16
saw 21:16,23
 31:24 43:8
saying 22:11
 34:1
says 36:4 39:22
 40:2
scan 31:23
scanning 31:19
 31:24,24
scene 32:2,7
Schaeffer 50:22
 50:23 51:3,3
scheduled 6:11
scheduling 31:12
school 29:9
 41:19,23 47:18
search 44:11

searching 44:10
season 5:22
seasons 41:20
seat 46:21 47:1
seated 5:6
second 4:23 14:1
 14:20 18:1
 19:17 35:1,19
 37:7
Secondary 24:18
secretary 2:15
 6:21
Security 42:8
see 6:13,14,22
 6:22 7:1 11:4
 12:17 14:13
 15:13 20:19
 22:5,6,10,10
 22:11,11,23
 23:1 27:13
 30:8 31:8,12
 33:3 43:1,2
 45:5,9,23
 53:21 54:3
 55:5
seen 25:22 31:5
 31:6,9,11
selecting 43:12
selfish 30:20
Senator 12:13
Senior 7:25
sense 48:6,9,12
 48:19
Sergeant 24:19
series 8:4
seriously 49:6,7
serve 5:11 8:24
 9:8,22,23
 11:22 13:7
 14:23 21:9
served 10:7
 13:14 19:21
serves 5:10
service 5:1 9:12
services 18:10
 18:11 23:3
serving 11:1,1
 11:16 13:25
 20:8
set 26:18 28:12
 34:6 57:11
seven 4:21 28:2

sexual 53:11
sexually 53:14
 53:15
Shacara 57:7,22
shake 44:14
share 12:24
sharing 33:22
sharp 33:6
she'll 39:24,25
sheet 26:15
Sheriff's 19:19
 20:5
Shirley 2:10
 16:9,14 39:14
 39:17,18,22
 40:1,4,6,9,12
 49:13
shoot 32:1
shootings 26:13
Shorthand 57:7
shot 31:16,16
showed 28:5
showing 51:11
shown 30:14
shrinking 42:9
siblings 41:17
sic 24:21
side 10:23 11:13
 19:12,16,17
 50:24,24
signature 21:12
significant
 26:24
similar 32:17
simple 29:24
simply 40:13
sir 7:22 34:17
 40:15 43:21
 45:17 51:16
 52:5
sister 42:16
sit 18:12 45:12
 45:18 46:20
sitting 16:13
 46:11 47:1
 49:6
situation 37:20
slash 41:11
sleep 55:12
slept 48:20
small 29:24
smaller 27:23

smell 53:21
Smith 40:21
 42:20 43:22,24
 44:1,5,24 45:5
smooth 22:14,15
 25:10
snatch 48:14
snatching 48:17
solely 29:3
Somebody 51:12
somewhat 48:5
 49:7
son 29:8
song 7:9
sorry 20:14
 23:25 38:22
south 50:25
Southwest 19:14
speak 39:4 41:2
 48:6 53:8 54:9
speaker 39:5
 52:7 54:14
speaker's 7:2
speaking 14:6
special 5:9 9:7
 26:21
specialized 42:1
spent 19:19
spirit 8:18
spoke 41:8
spot 40:8
spots 31:20
SS 57:4
staff 7:11 17:22
 19:23 22:20,22
 24:13,24 25:7
 32:15 55:21
Stair 3:8 22:15
 22:16,17,22
 23:13
stakeholders
 25:25
stand 20:18
 22:25 24:24
 25:2
standing 12:2
 49:21
stands 40:13
start 31:23 53:5
started 20:8
 26:6 29:21,21
 29:25 30:2

starting 4:14	success 14:18	tattoos 31:8	thing 15:10 16:3
state 4:15 12:13	42:15	teacher's 20:22	16:16 17:21
19:22,23 20:3	successful 28:20	team 16:4,5	50:14,18 54:21
21:2 29:8 49:9	sum 15:5	Tech 30:20	things 10:12
57:3,9	summary 36:24	technicians	18:6 25:16
state-of-the-art	supplies 41:24	31:18	30:2 33:23
32:9	support 21:1	technology 31:13	40:9 45:14
statement 49:4,5	23:18,19 24:3	32:6,17	48:4
49:7,9	33:12 35:3	tell 14:15 26:23	think 12:24 16:3
states 21:2	36:11 37:12	30:19 44:8	22:24 23:13
35:22	55:19,25	45:17 54:4	25:15 26:3
static 28:9	supported 5:5	temperatures	28:14,19 29:17
station 33:3	24:4 36:12	53:3,5	29:25 36:5,8
37:20	55:16	Temple 16:20	40:2,3,7,9
stations 30:3	supporting 16:14	ten 6:3 29:2	43:11 55:10
33:1,7,10	sure 10:9,14	tenants 8:19	THIRD 1:5
34:13	20:18 35:23	term 14:1 18:1	Thornton 50:16
statistics 27:18	39:5 43:8	19:17,21	50:18
stats 11:3 14:5	49:15	terms 8:8 12:1,8	thought 15:6
status 35:16	surveillance	12:10 13:9,15	30:22 55:9
36:14 37:8,14	27:1	25:22 29:20	thoughts 29:13
stay 41:1	survey 50:21	47:5,13	three 16:16,25
staying 17:12	suspect 32:3	testify 57:12	16:25 33:9
stays 40:11	suspects 31:25	thank 4:10 7:21	39:3
stenographic	suspension 35:16	8:12,20 9:16	throw-away 42:12
57:16	36:15,17,20	9:24 10:19,24	thrust 10:15
stenographically	37:9,15	11:8,10 13:20	Thursday 1:3 4:2
57:14	suspensions 6:17	13:22 15:2	14:12,20,20
step 7:19	6:17	16:5,6,7,23	38:14
Steve 23:4	swear 5:21 21:1	17:14,15,17	ticket 51:1,12
Stewart 7:10	swearing 5:22	18:15 19:7,9	52:3
stick 11:16	6:7	20:11,17 21:7	tickets 51:10
stick-to-it-ness	sworn 27:12 32:7	21:13,14,21	Tiffany 7:10
40:10	57:11	22:2,6,9 23:14	time 4:23 5:20
Stillwell 40:21	synopsis 36:22	24:9,14 25:4,7	5:24,25 7:17
43:23 45:19,21		25:13 26:21	9:17 20:9,15
45:22 46:4	T	29:11 32:19	22:13 23:24
stood 12:12	take 6:8 10:14	33:20,21 34:8	24:12,23 25:11
Stop 51:14	14:19 28:20	34:16,16,17	35:7,14 38:24
stopping 54:3	39:21 49:5	38:10,12,23	39:15,17 41:6
store 48:13	taken 32:3 46:21	40:14,15 42:18	41:8 57:10
stores 30:4	57:10,17	43:21 46:11,15	times 13:5 25:24
stories 42:15	talk 28:1 29:6	49:24 50:1,2,6	26:23 27:17
storm 41:17	31:13 32:11	50:7 51:14,16	31:22 41:18
story 43:8	45:11 49:18	52:2,5 54:12	42:6,9 49:3
strategy 28:2	50:12 51:18	54:16,21,22	title 16:23
street 51:4	52:25	55:4,7,11,16	today 4:22 5:2,9
strength 45:7	talked 52:16	55:23 56:4	5:18 9:5 11:3
stuck 41:9	talking 35:23	thankful 27:4	14:5,7 15:3
Studies 20:4	38:9 50:13	thanks 15:15	16:4,17 24:17
subcommittee	51:23,24	52:6 55:18,20	24:18,20 25:17
6:13	taping 24:18	Thelma 55:11	26:9,20 27:5

39:8 48:4,7
 55:22,22
today's 4:11 7:8
told 33:8 49:20
tongue 45:11
tonight 55:12
touch 52:15
tour 31:12
tow 49:11
trafficking 53:8
trained 42:1
transcript 57:16
transcription
 57:15
transgender
 31:15
transmitted
 53:15
traveling 54:25
treat 53:15
tremendous 12:3
trend 27:19
trending 27:19
true 52:17 57:16
truth 11:15
 57:12,12
try 14:22 15:5
 20:1 29:23
 53:12
trying 53:10
Tucker 23:8,8
turn 20:15
TV 44:8
twenty-year
 28:24
twist 39:11
two 6:16,17 7:3
 13:19 14:11
 15:4 16:1 17:9
 29:22,22 31:25
 35:9,11 39:1
 39:20 53:1,9
 53:17
two-lane 50:23
type 32:17

U

unbossed 49:12
unbought 49:12
underrepresented
 18:21
understand 10:8

understanding
 8:17
unfortunate 48:5
uniform 27:12,13
 27:14
union 18:8
unions 49:11
Unit 23:8
United 8:3 21:2
 32:21
unity 7:9,16
 16:25 33:19
universe 49:25
university 19:22
 19:23 20:3
unknown 51:12
Urban 20:4
use 8:22 30:12

V

V 57:7,22
vacancy 5:14,16
valid 13:3
valued 42:2
Vann 21:20
various 19:1,4
vehicle 31:24
veteran 5:3,6,8
 28:24
Veterans 26:2
Vice-Chairperson
 2:3
victim 32:1
victims 53:12
viewed 32:10
violent 26:12,17
 31:17
visit 32:13,14
visited 33:7
voice 10:9 20:22
volunteer 15:8
 26:1
vote 49:3
voted 18:24

W

Wade 35:17 36:1
 36:14 38:2
 41:11
wait 17:5
waiting 55:10
walk 15:25 48:13

Walton 23:4,4
want 7:20,23
 10:24 11:15
 14:11 15:1
 16:10,12 17:21
 17:21 24:15
 25:13 28:21
 32:20 34:2
 37:18 39:13
 43:18 44:5,10
 44:11,16 45:1
 45:8,13,15
 46:7,20 47:11
 48:11 52:12,15
 52:23,25 53:1
 53:8,16 55:11
wanted 9:20 16:1
 30:14 31:2
 35:23 42:25
 43:8 45:23
war 42:6
warming 53:4,7
warn 49:1
warning 47:10
wars 41:13
Washington 49:3
watch 15:17 44:7
Water 46:1
Watsworth 50:13
way 8:22 16:11
 32:9 47:24
 50:15,16,17,18
 50:20
Wayne 19:19,22
 19:23 20:3
 22:4 46:16
 50:8,13 52:16
we'll 23:19
 27:16 28:9
 39:4 43:21
we're 5:25 12:18
 14:9,18,23
 17:10 27:17,19
 27:23 28:2,9
 28:12,20 30:9
 32:5,6 33:14
 33:18 35:23
 38:9 44:25
 51:1 53:10,12
we've 20:6 25:15
 31:10 35:13
wear 16:24 42:8

44:18
wearers 41:11,12
 42:12,13
weather 41:17
website 53:2
weed 53:21,24
 54:5
weekend 53:6
weeks 35:13
Welbourne 40:17
 40:19,20 42:19
 42:21,23,23
welcome 4:7,13
 4:25 24:10
 25:14 44:2,16
 45:7,13 50:11
 52:23 54:18
welcoming 5:22
went 39:20
west 19:17
white 30:22
Whoo 18:18
wife 39:16 55:11
William 2:11
 18:17 45:24
 50:11
Williams 23:6,6
Willie 2:6,8
 9:19,21 11:12
Willis 39:6,7
windows 48:21
Winfrey 5:19
 20:10,13,17,20
 20:22 21:7,11
 21:15
wisdom 4:15 8:17
 9:11
wish 45:8
witness 57:11,14
women 8:24 26:22
 33:2 42:2
 44:24 45:18
won 10:6
wonderful 9:2
 11:2 19:18
Woodward 31:16
Worboys 23:11,11
word 47:9,12
words 9:9
work 9:13 14:3
 15:7,8 16:21
 16:24 17:14

18:2,12,13,13
 19:24 20:1,3,4
 20:6 26:3 27:4
 27:24 28:7
 30:17 32:24
 33:16 46:22
 47:17 54:23,24
 54:25 55:3
worked 34:14
 45:24 46:1,9
worker 39:10,14
workers 39:18
working 11:5,18
 12:18 17:13
 19:23 25:15
 27:2 32:8 40:5
 44:19 55:3,7
works 31:13
 33:20
world 41:14
worry 8:19
wrong 26:15 44:9
wrote 41:10
 51:12

X

Y

Yay 18:18
Yeah 36:8
year 4:6,8,12
 6:12 8:11,20
 8:20 9:23
 18:21 25:3
 26:10,12,13,17
 26:19 27:15
 28:3 34:7
 40:25 41:6
 44:2,4,24,25
 50:10 52:9,10
 54:9,17
year's 27:18
year-end 26:8
years 9:12 11:15
 11:18,18 12:3
 14:8 19:19
 27:20 29:2
 45:6,25 46:2
 46:10,23 47:4
 55:12
York 32:9
young 12:13,14

12:14 15:16
 44:13 45:10
 48:1
youth 42:3

Z

0

07-25-2024 57:25

1

1 1:8 2:7 10:22
 10:25
100,000 47:23,24
11 5:17
11th 23:5 35:18
 38:15
12 26:11,13
12th 38:15
1301 1:5
14 24:1,5 47:23
15 20:12
175-dollar 51:1
 51:10 52:3
18 34:22
18100 38:16
19 11:23
1960's 47:14
1966 47:14,19,22
1970's 13:14
1971 11:17
1973 4:14

2

2 2:9 5:11 23:3
20 20:12
2000 4:19
2003 11:17
2012 4:19
2013 11:20 20:8
2014 19:22 20:8
2015 8:12
2017 24:1,5 27:9
 47:21,23
2018 1:3 4:2
 5:21 17:17
 23:16,20 34:25
 35:3 38:19,23
 46:19
2021 5:21
214 47:20,22
224-dope 29:4

231 28:11 34:6
267 26:10 27:19
 47:21,22
27 19:19
271 27:23
272 27:23
273,000 47:24
28 55:12
2nd 54:8

3

3 2:10 16:10
 17:9
3:00 1:3
3:06 4:3
300 26:1

4

4 1:3 2:6 4:2
 11:12,21 23:16
 23:20
4:00 51:5,7
4:19 56:5
40 47:23
400 28:12,14,15
 34:6
48226 1:6
4988 35:17 36:4

5

5 2:8 26:19
50's 48:2,3
57 1:8
5988 35:22 36:2
5th 9:22 37:10
 37:16,21,21

6

6 2:2 4:10 19:11
 21:18,25
6:30 14:21 38:15
 38:18,23
60's 48:2,3,13
 48:16
67 12:22 48:1

7

7 2:11 18:21,23
 19:4

8

8 26:17 38:19,22

85 45:6

9

9 26:11,12,16
971 37:10,16
9th 38:18,18,21
 38:23